FACULTY OF ECONOMICS <u>TUL</u>



Master Thesis

Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Projects in the Czech Republic and Germany

| Study programme: | |
|---------------------|--|
| Author: | |
| Thesis Supervisors: | |

N0413A050030 International Management **Bc. Václav Martínek** Ing. Jaroslav Demel, Ph.D. Department of Marketing and Trade

Liberec 2024

FACULTY OF ECONOMICS <u>TUL</u>



Master Thesis Assignment Form

Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Projects in the Czech Republic and Germany

Name and surname: Identification number: Study programme: Assigning department: Academic year:

Bc. Václav Martínek

E22000434 N0413A050030 International Management Department of Marketing and Trade 2023/2024

Rules for Elaboration:

- 1. Setting work objectives.
- 2. Residential development projects and their phases and specifics.
- 3. Conditions for residential development projects realization in Czech Republic and Germany.
- 4. Analysis and comparison of conditions.
- 5. Evaluation and formulation of conclusions.

Scope of Graphic Work:Scope of Report:65 normostranThesis Form:printed/electronicThesis Language:english

List of Specialised Literature:

- DOLEŽAL, Jan, 2016. Projektový management: komplexně, prakticky a podle světových standardů. První vydání. Praha: Grada Publishing. ISBN 978-80-247-5620-2.
- KERZNER, Harold, 2022. *Project management: a systems approach to planning, scheduling, and controlling.* Thirteenth edition. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley. ISBN 978-1-119-80539-7.
- MILES, Mike E.; Laurence M. NETHERTON a Adrienne SCHMITZ, 2015. *Real estate development: principles and process*. Fifth edition. Washington, D.C.: Urban Land Institute. ISBN 978-0-87420-344-8.
- OLSSON, Nils O.E.; Anette Østbø SØRENSEN a Gunnar LEIKVAM, 2015. On the Need for Iterative Real Estate Project Models – Applying Agile Methods in Real Estate Developments. online. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, No. 21, vol. 524–531. Dostupné z: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00208-7.
- ORT, Petr, 2019. *Analýza realitního trhu*. Vydání první. Praha: Leges. ISBN 978-80-7502-364-3.
- SQUIRES, Graham a E. HEURKENS (ed.), 2015. *International approaches to real estate development*. London; New York: Routledge,Taylor & Francis Group. ISBN 978-0-415-82857-4.

| Thesis Supervisors: | Ing. Jaroslav Demel, Ph.D. |
|---------------------|-----------------------------------|
| | Department of Marketing and Trade |

Date of Thesis Assignment: November 1, 2023 Date of Thesis Submission: August 31, 2025

L.S.

doc. Ing. Aleš Kocourek, Ph.D. Dean doc. Ing. Kateřina Maršíková, Ph.D. study programme guarantor

Liberec November 1, 2023

Declaration

I hereby certify, I, myself, have written my master thesis as an original and primary work using the literature listed below and consulting it with my thesis supervisor and my thesis counsellor.

I acknowledge that my master thesis is fully governed by Act No. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act, in particular Article 60 – School Work.

I acknowledge that the Technical University of Liberec does not infringe my copyrights by using my master thesis for internal purposes of the Technical University of Liberec.

I am aware of my obligation to inform the Technical University of Liberec on having used or granted license to use the results of my master thesis; in such a case the Technical University of Liberec may require reimbursement of the costs incurred for creating the result up to their actual amount.

At the same time, I honestly declare that the text of the printed version of my master thesis is identical with the text of the electronic version uploaded into the IS/STAG.

I acknowledge that the Technical University of Liberec will make my master thesis public in accordance with paragraph 47b of Act No. 111/1998 Coll., on Higher Education Institutions and on Amendment to Other Acts (the Higher Education Act), as amended.

I am aware of the consequences which may under the Higher Education Act result from a breach of this declaration.

Srovnání podmínek pro řízení rezidenčních developerských projektů v České republice a Německu

Anotace

Diplomová práce Srovnání podmínek pro řízení rezidenčních developerských projektů v České republice a Německu analyzuje a porovnává dva trhy a na základě vyhodnocení srovnání doporučuje, na který trh by měla vstoupit nová firma v oblasti rezidenčního developmentu. První část práce je teoretická a definuje rezidenční development, popisuje fáze procesu rezidenčního developmentu podle různých autorů a představuje PESTLE analýzu jako důležitý nástroj pro analýzu trhu. Druhá část je analytická a začíná PESTLE analýzou obou trhů, pokračuje srovnáním, vyhodnocením a doporučením. Poslední kapitola představuje model fází řízení rezidenčního developerského projektu na základě teoretické rešerše a rozhovorů s experty.

Klíčová slova

Česká republika, komparace, Německo, PESTLE analýza, realitní trh, rezidenční development

Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Projects in the Czech Republic and Germany

Annotation

The diploma thesis Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Projects in the Czech Republic and Germany analyzes and compares two markets and based on the evaluation of the comparison, recommends on which market a new company in residential development should enter. The first part is based on a theoretical review that defines residential development, describes phases of the residential development process according to various authors, and introduces PESTLE analysis as an important market analysis tool. Second part opens with the PESTLE analysis of both markets, continues with comparison and evaluation, and concludes with recommendation. The last chapter presents the model of phases for managing residential development projects based on literature review and expert interviews.

Key Words

Comparative Study, Czech Republic, Germany, PESTLE Analysis, Real Estate Market, Residential Development

Acknowledgment

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Ing. Jaroslav Demel, Ph.D., for his valuable professional guidance, patience, and insightful advice throughout the preparation of this thesis. Furthermore, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my family and my girlfriend for their constant support and encouragement throughout my studies.

Contents

| List | of T | ables | 13 |
|------|------|--|------|
| List | of A | Abbreviations | 14 |
| Intr | odu | ction | 15 |
| 1 | Res | idential Development | 17 |
| | 1.1 | Definition and Specifics of Residential Development | . 17 |
| | 1.2 | Residential Development as a Project | 20 |
| | 1.3 | Phases of Residential Development Project | . 21 |
| | | 1.3.1 Eight Phases Process by Miles et al | 22 |
| | | 1.3.2 Eight Phases Process by Reed and Sims | 24 |
| | | 1.3.3 Five Phases Process by Ratcliffe et al | 26 |
| | | 1.3.4 Summary of the Perspectives of the Authors | 28 |
| 2 | Ma | rket Analysis Tool – PESTLE | 30 |
| | 2.1 | Political Environment | 30 |
| | 2.2 | Economic Environment | . 31 |
| | 2.3 | Socio – Cultural Environment | 32 |
| | 2.4 | Technological Environment | 33 |
| | 2.5 | Legal Environment | 33 |
| | 2.6 | Environmental Environment | 34 |
| 3 | Ana | alysis of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Project in Cze | ch |
| Rep | | c and Germany | |
| | 3.1 | Czech Republic – PESTLE | 37 |
| | | 3.1.1 Political Environment | 37 |
| | | 3.1.2 Economic Environment | . 41 |
| | | 3.1.3 Socio – Cultural Environment | 45 |
| | | 3.1.4 Technological Environment | 47 |
| | | 3.1.5 Legal Environment | 50 |
| | | 3.1.6 Environmental Environment | |
| | 3.2 | Germany – PESTLE | 55 |
| | | 3.2.1 Political Environment | 55 |
| | | 3.2.2 Economic Environment | 58 |
| | | 3.2.3 Socio – Cultural Environment | . 61 |
| | | 3.2.4 Technological Environment | 63 |

| | 3.2.5 Legal Environment | 65 |
|-----|---|-----------|
| | 3.2.6 Environmental Environment | 68 |
| 4 | Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development P | roject in |
| Cze | ech Republic and Germany | 70 |
| | 4.1 Method of Comparison | 70 |
| | 4.2 Comparison of Conditions | 72 |
| | 4.2.1 Government Policies on Housing | 72 |
| | 4.2.2 Housing Regulations | 72 |
| | 4.2.3 Key Economic Indicators | 73 |
| | 4.2.4 Economic Forecast | 74 |
| | 4.2.5 Taxation | 75 |
| | 4.2.6 Demographic Trends and Urbanization | 76 |
| | 4.2.7 Customer Preferences and Behavior | 77 |
| | 4.2.8 Market Trends | 77 |
| | 4.2.9 DESI Index | 78 |
| | 4.2.10 Innovations in Construction | 79 |
| | 4.2.11 Construction Law | 80 |
| | 4.2.12 Bureaucracy Level | 80 |
| | 4.2.13 Environmental Regulations | 81 |
| | 4.3 Evaluation and Recommendation | 83 |
| 5 | Model of Phases for Managing Residential Development Project | |
| | 5.1 Marketing and Sales | 86 |
| | 5.2 Idea and Concept Creation | 86 |
| | 5.3 Analysis of Feasibility | |
| | 5.4 Site Purchase | |
| | 5.5 Designing, Cost Calculation | 88 |
| | 5.6 Permitting Process | 89 |
| | 5.7 Construction | 89 |
| | 5.8 Management and Disposal | 90 |
| Co | nclusion | 92 |
| Lis | at of References | 95 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Phases of the Development Project According to Miles et al | 22 |
|---|----|
| Table 2: Phases of the Development Project According to Reed and Sims | 24 |
| Table 3: Phases of the Development Project According to Ratcliffe et al | 27 |
| Table 4: PESTLE Analysis | 30 |
| Table 5: PESTLE Structure | 37 |
| Table 6: Czech Republic Economic Indicators: 2018-2022 Overview | 42 |
| Table 7: Trends in Economic Growth, Property Prices, and Credit Rates in the Czec | :h |
| Republic (2018-2023) | 43 |
| Table 8: Personal Income Tax and Corporate Tax in the Czech Republic | 45 |
| Table 9: Germany Economic Indicators: 2018-2022 Overview | 58 |
| Table 10: Trends in Economic Growth, Property Prices, and Credit Rates in German | iy |
| (2018-2023) | 59 |
| Table 11: Personal Income Tax and Corporate Tax in Germany | 61 |
| Table 12: Weights of Each Section | 71 |
| Table 13: Evaluation of Comparison | 83 |
| Table 14: The Model of Phases for Managing Residential Development Project | 85 |

List of Abbreviations

| BIM | Building Information Modeling | |
|------|--|--|
| CZ | Czech Republic | |
| DE | Germany | |
| DESI | Digital Economy and Society Index | |
| EIA | Environmental Impact Assessment | |
| EU | European Union | |
| FDI | Foreign Direct Investment | |
| GDP | Gross Domestic Product | |
| ICT | Information and Communication Technology | |
| IT | Information Technology | |
| NCS | National Center for Construction 4.0 | |
| OECD | Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development | |
| R&D | Research and Development | |
| SPE | Special Purpose Entity | |
| SPV | Special Purpose Vehicle | |
| VAT | Value Added Tax | |

Introduction

In today's constantly changing urban landscapes, real estate development and especially residential development, is a key sector for growth and innovation. To navigate this dynamic field, it is essential to have a deep understanding of the fundamental principles that underpin residential projects, as well as a strong awareness of the specific conditions that influence development outcomes in different markets.

The management of residential development is crucial globally. However, the framework and conditions affecting it vary significantly from one country to another. Therefore, it is necessary to apply experiences and best practices from one nation to another with caution. While some strategies and insights may be universally beneficial, others may require adaptation to align with specific regulatory, economic, and cultural contexts.

The main goal of the thesis Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Projects in the Czech Republic and Germany is to analyze and compare the conditions for managing residential development projects in the Czech Republic and Germany and based on evaluation of this comparison, to provide a recommendation on which of these markets the new company in residential development should enter. Based on the literature review, and expert interviews, model of phases for managing residential development projects will be created. This thesis can potentially serve as a guide for new companies in the field of residential development during their early stages of international business.

The first part of the thesis is theoretical and provides a definition of residential development and its specifics and defines residential development as a project. It further describes how different authors view the phases of residential development projects. The final part of the theoretical review includes a description of PESTLE analysis, an important tool for analyzing the Czech and German markets.

The second part of the thesis is analytical. It opens with a description of the insights from expert interviews, continues with a PESTLE analysis of the Czech and German markets, followed by a comparison of the conditions in both markets. It concludes

with an evaluation and recommendation on which market a new company in the residential development should enter. In addition, the thesis proposes a model of phases for managing a residential development project based on a theoretical review and expert interviews. During the process of writing this thesis, the text was edited and formulated with the assistance of the artificial intelligence tool ChatGPT 4.0. However, it should be noted that this tool was used in accordance with its limitations and that all content was subject to critical evaluation.

1 Residential Development

Firstly, it is essential to clarify the distinction between real estate development and residential development. Real estate development is a broad term that encompasses for example the development of commercial properties, infrastructure, and residential spaces. Residential development, on the other hand, specifically refers to the development of sites intended for living.

Residential development plays a crucial role in the formation of the built environment, influencing how individuals inhabit and operate within these spaces, thereby facilitating the progression of human endeavors. Globally, the trajectory of residential development mirrors the current societal requirements and market forces specific to various regions. (Squires and Heurkens, 2015)

In the forthcoming chapters, residential development and its specifics will be defined. Subsequently, the critical phases of the residential development process according to various authors will be introduced.

1.1 Definition and Specifics of Residential Development

The role of a residential developer is notably diverse, embodying a complex enterprise that includes everything from acquiring, renovating, and renting existing structures to buying undeveloped land and selling developed sites. Developers are the driving force behind these tasks, turning conceptual designs into tangible assets and converting properties into elements of urban development. They envision, fund, and manage the developmental journey from its inception to completion. Often bearing the highest risks in residential creation or refurbishment, developers also stand to gain the most significant benefits. (Peiser and Hamilton, 2012)

The residential development process starts with an initial thought. It is not initiated by the analysis of financials, nor does it always start with a specific location in mind. Instead, it springs from an idea. This underscores the inherently creative nature of the process. Interestingly, individuals with a background in creative fields, such as film or television production, frequently find success when they transition into the realm of residential development, thanks to the sector's demand for inventive and innovative thinking. (Peca, 2009)

The process is characterized by both its complexity and variety: it is intricate due to the presence of numerous entities, both public and private, of varying sizes, engaging in development through diverse organizational structures and legal frameworks. It is also marked by its diversity, encompassing a broad spectrum of businesses spanning different industries, each with unique goals, objectives, and operational approaches. Additionally, the industry is known for its risk, cyclical nature, stringent regulations, and prolonged production timelines. It encompasses three primary categories of participants: consumers, creators, and public infrastructure providers. This complex system of interactions and relationships needs careful analysis and comprehension, enabling the residential development process to be steered in a manner that maximizes benefits for all parties involved and where creativity is important not only at the absolute beginning of the process, but also in all the next steps as it is main driving force in solving problems and finding effective and valuable solutions. (Ratcliffe et al., 2021)

Miles et al. (2015) mentions that every development project fundamentally operates as an independent business venture, utilizing the three primary elements of production: land, labor, and capital, to produce a tangible outcome. The transformation of a concept into a concrete entity is achieved through the strategic coordination of these resources under entrepreneurial management, executed by collaborative teams.

The generation of value stems from furnishing space that addresses societal demands. While the basic premise of residential development is straightforward, the intricacies of the process are amplified by the evolving dynamics of local governments, financial sectors, and consumer preferences. (Olsson et al., 2015)

As indicated in the previous paragraphs, most of the time, developers establish a new company for every new project. This system is called special purpose vehicle. A special purpose vehicle (SPV), or special purpose entity (SPE), is formed by a parent company as a subsidiary to prevent a range of risks. Its legal status as an independent company ensures that its obligations remain safeguarded, even if the

parent company faces bankruptcy. Similarly, this arrangement protects the parent company from operational and legal challenges, if the SPV encounters failure or goes bankrupt. This structure effectively shields the parent company from the potential problems associated with the SPV's project-related difficulties. (Hayes, 2024)

According to Morr & Co (2022), main reasons for developers creating new companies for every project are as follows:

- Liability Separation: By setting up a new company for each project, developers can isolate legal liability. If a project faces legal challenges or goes bankrupt, this structure can protect the developers' other assets and projects from being affected.
- Financial Clarity and Simplification: Separate companies can make financial management easier, allowing for clear tracking of expenses, revenues, and profitability on a project-by-project basis. This can be particularly useful for projects with distinct financial backers or for simplifying tax obligations.
- **Risk Management:** Creating separate entities for each project helps in distributing risk. If one project fails, it won't directly impact the financial health of the other projects or the parent company.
- Investor Attraction: Some projects may require specific investor expertise or financial contributions that are unique to that venture. Setting up a separate company can make the project more attractive to investors by offering them a direct stake in the project and clearer insight into its financial planning.
- **Regulatory Compliance:** Certain types of projects might have unique regulatory requirements or might benefit from incentives offered to businesses in specific jurisdictions. By creating a new company, developers can more easily comply with these requirements or take advantage of these benefits.
- Branding and Marketing: A new company can be branded specifically for the project, helping to tailor marketing efforts and build a brand identity that resonates with the target audience without conflicting with the brands of existing projects.
- Exit Strategies: Separate companies provide more flexibility for exit strategies. It's easier to sell or spin off a project if it's housed in its own entity.

Because residential development is capital intensive industry, financial support is crucial for the projects, necessitating a series of negotiations among various stakeholders. Developers engage with public sector officials to secure approvals, modify zoning laws, comply with building codes, and ensure infrastructure provision. The influence of community and special-interest groups is growing, underscoring extensive public engagement, discussions with governmental bodies, and securing financing as integral steps in project appraisal. The project can only proceed to the physical construction phase, involving designers, engineers, and construction personnel once these preparatory tasks are well planned and arranged. Completion of the project involves leasing or selling the developed space, a process managed by marketing experts, graphic designers, sales professionals, web developers, and other key players to attract customers. Throughout this process, the developer's goal is to manage each component efficiently, ensuring adherence to timelines and budget constraints. (Miles et al., 2015)

In conclusion, residential development is not only a multifaceted process involving the construction, management, and enhancement of residential properties and communities, but is fundamentally a project. Driven by various social, economic, and environmental factors, it decisively shapes urban landscapes, supports population growth and modernization, and embodies the essence of project management in the real estate sector.

1.2 Residential Development as a Project

Before delving into phases of residential development projects, it is important to clarify what is a project according to project management theory. Doležal et al. (2016) defines project as: "A unique process limited in time, costs, and resources, carried out with the purpose of defined outputs (the scope of fulfilling project objectives) in the required quality and in accordance with valid standards and approved requirements." Given this definition, it becomes clear that a project is essentially a structured process, inherently organized into distinct phases.

In project management, those phases can be defined as follows (Kerzner, 2022):

- **Concept Design:** Establish main goals, evaluate impacts, estimate costs and timeline, and conduct risk analysis.
- **Project Definition**: Refine objectives and methodologies, identify resources, set a realistic budget and timeframe, define risks and mitigation strategies, and prepare detailed implementation plans.
- **Production:** Implement the project, manage tasks and budgets, ensure quality control, achieve goals, and test outcomes.
- **Operational Period:** Integrate the project into existing systems, assess impacts, and gather feedback for future projects.
- **Project Disposal:** Transition the project to support stages, reallocate resources, and compile lessons learned.

Understanding these fundamental phases in the context of project management lays the groundwork for applying these concepts specifically to residential development projects. While this general framework provides a blueprint for managing any project, residential development presents unique challenges and opportunities that tailor these phases to meet the complex demands of creating livable spaces.

Moving on to the specific phases of residential development, the next chapter will explore how various authors see and describe the development process and its phases. It will serve as a literature background for creating the model of phases in analytical part of the thesis.

1.3 Phases of Residential Development Project

Residential development is a business that seeks to meet market demand by utilizing the essential factors of production: land as the foundation, labor for design, construction, and management, and capital to finance the operation. Succeeding in this field requires the skill, intuition, and perseverance of the developer to effectively integrate these components into a project. The development of residential properties can be seen as a continuous process, from the initial concept to project completion, which includes several phases. (Isaac et al., 2016)

All the above facts are the main reason why it is important to explore the residential development process. It is necessary to have a complex understanding of its various phases, as outlined by leading thinkers in the field. Next three chapters will review the perspectives of three key authors, aiming to highlight the different approaches to structuring these phases. The intention is not to prescribe a specific model but to present a spectrum of thought that informs broader understanding of residential development.

1.3.1 Eight Phases Process by Miles et al.

Miles et al. (2015) propose an eight-phases process for residential development, emphasizing its inherent complexity and non-linearity. This eight-phases process is applicable to both new projects and the redevelopment of existing ones. The authors suggest that residential development requires a combination of art, logic, and intuition, and success depends on creativity and drive. Key points to consider in residential development include constant consideration of subsequent phases throughout the process, the importance of asset and property management post-construction, and the dynamic and interdisciplinary nature of development. The work also highlights the global context of residential development, underscoring the influence of international factors on local development practices.

The Table 1 presents the eight phases of the development project according to Miles et al. Each of those phases will be further described.

| Phase number | Phase title | |
|--------------|---|--|
| 1. | Idea inception | |
| 2. | Idea refinement | |
| 3. | Feasibility | |
| 4. | Contract negotiation | |
| 5. | Formal commitment | |
| 6. | Construction | |
| 7. | Completion and final opening | |
| 8. | Property, asset, and portfolio management | |
| | | |

Table 1: Phases of the Development Project According to Miles et al.

Source: own processing according to (Miles et al., 2015)

The eight phases are described by Miles et al. (2015) as follows:

Idea Inception: The developer with a comprehensive understanding of the background and access to current market data can quickly identify potential market 22

needs and evaluate ideas efficiently, gauging the viability of each concept. In contrast, inexperienced or new developers may spend more time analyzing and generating ideas.

Idea Refinement: After identifying a suitable site for the proposed concept, the developer evaluates its physical feasibility and engages in discussions with potential tenants, landowners, investors, collaborators, and experts. If the concept appears viable after these preliminary evaluations, the developer finalizes an initial design and secures an option on the property, indicating readiness to advance the project based on the promising nature of the initial idea.

Feasibility: The developer carries out a comprehensive market analysis to forecast market absorption and capture rates. Additionally, a feasibility assessment is performed to determine the potential value of the project relative to its cost. The project plans are then submitted to public authorities for approval, confirming the legal, physical, and economic viability of the project to all parties involved.

Contract Negotiation: The developer finalizes the project design based on insights from the market study on user preferences and willingness to pay. The subsequent steps include negotiating contracts, securing a written loan commitment, selecting a general contractor, setting baseline rent or sales figures, and acquiring the necessary permits from local government authorities.

Formal Commitment: Interdependent contracts are completed together and include various agreements, such as joint ventures, construction and permanent loans, construction projects, land acquisitions, insurance, and preliminary leases.

Construction: The developer implements a formal accounting system to ensure expenses align with the budget. Approves adjustments recommended by the marketing team and the broader development group, mediates construction-related disagreements, executes financial transactions, strives to maintain the project's progress on schedule, and engages operational staff as needed.

Completion and Final Opening: The developer employs operational staff full-time and enhances promotional efforts. Once the city approves occupancy and

establishes utilities, occupants begin to move in. The process concludes with the payment of the construction loan and the closing of the permanent loan agreement.

Property, Asset, and Portfolio Management: The property owner, whether the original developer or a subsequent owner, manages the property. This includes tasks such as re-leasing, reconfiguring, remodeling, and remarketing the space as needed to prolong its economic lifespan and improve asset performance. Additionally, this phase encompasses the strategic management of fixed assets and takes into account considerations related to the portfolios of investors.

1.3.2 Eight Phases Process by Reed and Sims

Reed and Sims (2015) compare residential development to industrial production, where various inputs are combined over time to produce a changed land use or a new/altered building. The process is marked by profit generation and risk management, with the end product being fundamentally unique. The development process is divided into eight major phases, which may not always follow a strict sequence and may overlap or be repeated. The model considers the intricacies of property development, including the possibility of phases preceding or following other phases depending on the project type.

The Table 2 presents the eight phases of the development project according to Reed and Sims. Each of those phases will be further described.

| Phase number | Phase title | |
|--------------|---|--|
| 1. | Initiation | |
| 2. | Investigation and analysis of viability | |
| 3. | Acquisition | |
| 4. | Design and costing | |
| 5. | Consent and permission | |
| 6. | Commitment | |
| 7. | Implementation | |
| 8. | Leasing, managing, disposal | |

Table 2: Phases of the Development Project According to Reed and Sims

Source: own processing according to (Reed and Sims, 2015)

Reed and Sims (2015) describe the phases of development project as follows:

Initiation: The first phase of property development is usually initiated by two main factors: identifying a site's potential for a new or more intensive use, or an increase in demand for a particular land use, which prompts the search for a suitable location. This stage is fundamental, as it establishes the direction for development by assessing the site's feasibility in relation to market requirements and legal limitations.

Investigation and Analysis of Viability: The investigation and viability analysis phase emphasize market research and financial analysis to ensure viability and minimize risks. It is essential for project planning, involves the evaluation of various scenarios to avoid financial losses. Despite potential costs, acquiring detailed property data is vital for informed decision-making. The outcome determines whether a project proceeds, highlighting the importance of flexibility and continuous viability re-assessment throughout the development process.

Acquisition: Before acquiring a site for development, it is crucial to take certain steps. These include conducting a legal review to identify any limitations or legal constraints, performing a detailed physical inspection to ensure that the site is suitable for the intended development, and arranging financing on favorable terms. These steps are crucial in reducing risks before the developer proceeds with acquiring and purchasing the property or land.

Design and Costing: During the design and costing phase, initial estimations and basic designs are created to align with budget and the customer's needs. Preliminary designs enable initial cost estimations. The process progresses from conceptual proposals to detailed plans, requiring coordination and input from various stakeholders. This stage is critical for establishing the project's financial and architectural framework, with the final design reflecting a balance between market demands, practical feasibility, and the developer's vision.

Consent and Permission: The process of obtaining consent and permission for a project is multifaceted. It typically begins with securing planning consent from the local planning authority, especially when a change of use for the land is involved. This process requires in-depth knowledge of local legislation and planning authority operations, often requiring the services of consultants. Furthermore, developers may need to negotiate planning agreements with the local authority, which can result in additional costs and affect project viability.

Commitment: Before making a significant investment in physical development, it is crucial to conduct due diligence, which includes site decontamination and acquiring statutory permissions. This preparatory phase enables developers to reevaluate the feasibility of the project, especially considering changing economic conditions or market preferences. To minimize financial risks, developers keep initial costs low until they secure full site access. Contracts for development are then quickly finalized in this phase to reduce risks and prevent delays.

Implementation: The implementation phase finalizes the original design, construction plans, and associated costs. This stage emphasizes executing the development on time and within budget, with a strict focus on maintaining quality without taking shortcuts. Flexibility in design and construction is minimized to avoid project uncertainty, necessitating skilled project management to anticipate and address issues promptly, ensuring smooth progress. Continuous monitoring of the market ensures that the final product meets current demands.

Leasing, Managing, Disposal: In the entire process, developers plan for leasing, managing, and selling properties well before the final phase to ensure profitability and viability. During this phase, they decide whether to sell or retain the property, influenced by market conditions and investment objectives. Effective post-completion management ensures that the project meets market needs, with real estate agents playing a key role. Continual communication with occupiers identifies issues that are critical to the success of the development and the developer's reputation. Ultimately, the financial viability of the project is evaluated through initial leasing or sales.

1.3.3 Five Phases Process by Ratcliffe et al.

Ratcliffe et al. (2021) focus on the inefficiencies and interdisciplinary nature of the residential development process and discuss the shift towards cooperative and partnership approaches in the industry, driven by the need for efficiency and the 26

integration of technologies like AI. The authors outline five phases for procuring successful projects, from verifying the need to post-project review, emphasizing the importance of a comprehensive approach to the development process, incorporating considerations like market research, design, contract negotiation, and project management to mitigate risks and ensure success.

The Table 3 presents the five phases of the development project according to Ratcliffe et al. Each of those phases will be further described.

| Phase number | Phase title | |
|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|
| 1. Concept and initial consideration | | |
| 2. | Site appraisal and feasibility study | |
| 3. | Detailed design and evaluation | |
| 4. | Contract and construction | |
| 5. | Marketing, management, and disposal | |

Table 3: Phases of the Development Project According to Ratcliffe et al.

Source: own processing according to (Ratcliffe et al., 2021)

The five phases of the development project are described by Ratcliffe et al. (2021) as follows:

Concept and Initial Consideration: The concept and initial consideration phase in property development is guided by the sector's goals: profit in the private sector and operational objectives in the public sector. Balancing potential returns against risks and uncertainties is key to this phase. The process is fundamentally driven by creativity. Successful developers are distinguished by their ability to foresee market trends and innovate, turning unique insights into viable development opportunities.

Site Appraisal and Feasibility Study: During the site appraisal and feasibility study phase, developers conduct in-depth analyses to ensure the project's viability, taking into account market dynamics, physical constraints, and potential risks such as land contamination. This includes detailed market demand assessments, cost and time estimations, and preliminary engineering reviews. It is crucial to engage with planning authorities and the community early on, while also navigating planning obligations and potential appeals. Financing arrangements are carefully planned to align with project goals and design considerations, emphasizing the importance of flexibility and strategic revisions in response to feedback and regulatory requirements.

Detailed Design and Evaluation: In the detailed design and evaluation phase, developers finalize their professional team and consider sustainability goals. Early decisions on sustainability are necessary to avoid later redesigns and costs. The team then prepares detailed drawings for planning approvals and budget forecasting. Adaptability is crucial in project planning and execution as changes may be needed at any stage, affecting various aspects of the project such as occupancy, design, and materials.

Contract and Construction: During the contract and construction phase, it is recommended to select a contractor early in the design process to balance cost and quality. This phase carries significant risks, such as unexpected soil conditions or contractor insolvency, which highlight the potential for unforeseen challenges. Developers should establish a management structure to facilitate efficient communication and supervision of contractual affairs, ensuring project viability and problem-solving throughout construction. This demonstrates the critical importance of risk management and proactive planning in this stage.

Marketing, Management, and Disposal: The timing and strategy of marketing campaigns are critical in the marketing, management, and disposal phase. The choice between a lease or sale contract aims to maximize returns. It is important to ensure site security and safety during construction to protect all visitors and comply with legal duties and regulations. Agent performance should be monitored, and financial arrangements may need to be reorganized, depending on development progress, market conditions, and the needs of tenants or purchasers. Economic downturns or significant events such as COVID-19 may necessitate the renegotiation of financial terms or planning obligations to adapt to changed viability assessments.

1.3.4 Summary of the Perspectives of the Authors

The two authors outline an eight-phase process for residential development but differ in their emphasis: Miles et al. focus on integrating art, logic, and intuition throughout the development process and emphasize the impact of the global context, while Reed and Sims compare the process to industrial production, emphasizing risk management and the uniqueness of the final product. Ratcliffe et al. propose a streamlined five-phase approach, prioritizing efficiency, and technology integration. These differences highlight the varying priorities in development, from creative conception to practical implementation and market adaptation.

This theoretical review, accompanied by expert interview, will serve as the basis for creating the model of phases in the last chapter of this thesis. The next chapter will describe the PESTLE analysis tool, which will be used to analyze the Czech and German markets.

2 Market Analysis Tool – PESTLE

The PESTLE analysis framework covers six macroeconomic categories. The tool helps companies to identify macroeconomic factors that could impact business development in the specific market, distinguishing between opportunities and risks. Additionally, PESTLE facilitates scenario planning based on these variables, enabling more accurate future predictions and informed decision-making to secure long-term interests. (Marmol and Feys, 2015)

The Table 4 presents the six macroeconomic categories that are included in the PESTLE analysis.

| Р | Political environment | |
|---|----------------------------|--|
| E | Economic environment | |
| S | Socio-cultural environment | |
| Т | Technological environment | |
| L | Legal environment | |
| E | Environmental environment | |
| | | |

Table 4: PESTLE Analysis

Source: own processing according to (Marmol and Feys, 2015)

The following chapters will briefly describe each category of the PESTLE analysis. Furthermore, the thesis will use the PESTLE tool to analyze the conditions in the markets of the Czech Republic and Germany.

2.1 Political Environment

The political environment and its constant evolution directly influence all decisionmaking processes in marketing and business. Therefore, it affects all organizations and individuals in every society and regulates them in a certain way. Regulation is crucial for the proper functioning of almost every system. When applied appropriately, it ensures a market environment with equal conditions for goods and services, while also promoting the development of a competitive environment. For this reason, governments create public policies aimed at establishing laws and regulations that regulate and direct commerce to a certain extent. (Hill et al., 2019)

Political factors that can affect the company include policy shifts or new initiatives, the level of state interventions, corruption, or changes in government. While these 30

changes may originate within a single country, the interconnected nature of global trade and the influence of international bodies such as the European Union mean that political actions often have a wider, cross-border impact. The rise of multinational organizations further expands the scope of political considerations and increases the likelihood that political issues will affect an organization's operations. (Cadle et al., 2014)

2.2 Economic Environment

The economic environment of a business comprises trends and tendencies that create entrepreneurial opportunities, influencing the purchasing and consumption behavior of each entity within the market and determining the overall utilization of resources. It includes numerous influences that impact the purchasing power and spending of all citizens, with the level of purchasing power resulting from the economic conditions faced by individuals and businesses. (Hill et al., 2019)

A fundamental and crucial characteristic of the economic environment is the ability to measure the size and specific features of a foreign market. The market size provides an opportunity to assess its potential, which is crucial for determining whether individual products can succeed in the market. Marmol and Feys (2015) identify several key variables that help in understanding the economic environment as follows:

- Business cycle
- Growth rate
- Interest rate
- Country GDP
- Taxation rates
- Inflation rate
- Unemployment
- Purchasing power

These indicators are evaluated by public or private institutions and are generally accessible. Analyzing these indicators can provide valuable insights. For instance, if

a business decides to enter a market in a country with low population growth and high unemployment rates, it can be assumed that it will achieve relatively low sales of its product. Therefore, it is crucial for businesses to monitor the economic competitiveness of different countries. Globally, there are institutions that evaluate economic competitiveness. Countries are categorized into groups based on their level of economic development. This assessment is a crucial tool for companies when selecting a foreign market and entering it. The economic development of a specific country plays a vital role in the whole process, as it directly influences the potential success or failure of a business in the selected market. (Hill et al., 2019)

All the above facts and information point to the importance of continuously monitoring key economic indicators, especially those directly related to the specific sector. The economic environment is complex, and it is difficult to predict future developments. As a result, companies should focus primarily on factors that have a significant impact on their operations.

2.3 Socio – Cultural Environment

The social and cultural environment shapes consumer attitudes and values. Numerous institutions and factors within this environment influence consumer behavior, attitudes, and preferences. Each society has different values, experiences, customs, and traditions that influence the attitudes and thought processes of people within a country. Therefore, companies need to understand and adapt to the social and cultural specifics of their target market, adjusting not only their marketing activities but also their overall business strategies. (Kotler et al., 2013)

When analyzing the socio-cultural environment, companies should examine demographic trends, lifestyle changes, and societal values. This also includes understanding age distribution, education levels, religion, and cultural norms. Attention should also be paid to emerging social movements and trends in consumer behavior, as these can have a significant impact on product demand and brand perception. By engaging in this comprehensive analysis, companies can anticipate shifts in consumer needs and preferences and better align products and services with market expectations. (Marmol and Feys, 2015)

In summary, understanding cultural and social norms allows companies to anticipate potential challenges or opportunities in specific markets. It provides an opportunity to gain customer trust while establishing clear rules of interaction.

2.4 Technological Environment

In recent decades, technology has become an integral part of our lives, fundamentally changing the way we live. For companies conducting macro environmental analysis, it's important to take a close look at the technological environment. A primary measure for companies is the level of technological development of a country, as it has a significant impact on the market they intend to enter. (Hill et al., 2019)

Technological environment includes advancements in two main areas: information technology (IT) and industry-specific technology. These changes are crucial for businesses to monitor and adapt to, as they can significantly impact operations and market dynamics (Cadle et al., 2014). According to Perera (2018), some other key variables that a company should follow in the technological environment are:

- Innovations in specific industry
- Investment in R&D
- New discoveries and patents

In conclusion, in today's rapidly evolving, technology-driven world, a company's ability to adapt is critical to its success. Staying informed of all developments within the industry, from technological advancements to their future implications, is essential.

2.5 Legal Environment

The legislative environment in which a company operates defines its operational landscape. Regulatory changes, both new regulations and deregulation, can have a major impact on companies and entire industries. Such changes have been seen in well-established industries as utilities and airlines and are equally important to all other industries. (Amason and Ward, 2021)

Legislation varies widely from region to region, making it critical for companies to understand. In addition, knowledge of tax policies can guide companies in selecting countries in which to operate, optimizing the company's financial and operational strategy. (Ort, 2019)

In summary, keeping informed of local regulations, such as labor, trade, and construction laws, is critical to protecting a company from legal issues and operating effectively within legal boundaries. For example, construction law can have a significant impact on developers, as the extensive regulatory environment and required approvals can extend timelines and affect project feasibility and profitability.

2.6 Environmental Environment

The importance of environmental impact is being increasingly recognized by companies, driven by consumer awareness of climate change and its link to production. This awareness has led to increased consumer demand for companies to actively reduce their carbon footprint. As a result, many companies have made a commitment to reducing their environmental impact by setting ambitious sustainability goals to improve not only their environmental performance, but also the well-being of their customers and employees. (Amason and Ward, 2020)

To navigate this category, companies are advised to focus on key environmental variables such as environmental standards, renewable energy, and waste management practices that are important to align with sustainability goals. (Perera, 2018)

In the next chapter, the above-described PESTLE analysis will be used as a tool for analyzing the conditions for managing residential development projects in the Czech Republic and Germany.

3 Analysis of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Project in Czech Republic and Germany

In this chapter, the markets of the Czech Republic and Germany will be analyzed using PESTLE analysis, which will provide characteristics and information about both markets in terms of residential development and housing. This analysis is a fundamental component of the analytical part of this thesis and the comparison of the markets. To effectively analyze the markets, compare the conditions, evaluate them, and make recommendations, insights from expert interviews will be used. Furthermore, these insights will also be used for creating the model of phases for managing residential development project in the last chapter of this thesis. Interviews were conducted with Jan Stoklasa, who is the CEO of Genio development, s.r.o., a development company from the Czech Republic, and another person with vast experience in the German market who wished to remain anonymous.

For a better understanding of the implementation of the experts' insights into the analytical part of the thesis, it is essential to provide a summary of the insights and conclusions from the interviews. According to the personal communication (2024) with the above-mentioned experts, important insights and facts about both markets are as follows:

Key Factors Influencing Project Success: Development projects are most significantly influenced by a combination of the legal environment, economic cycles, interest rates, market trends and consumer preferences, and real estate market dynamics. In both the Czech Republic and Germany, the regulatory framework and permitting processes are critical and often pose significant challenges. In Germany, the approval process can take up to two years, reflecting strict regulatory conditions. In the Czech Republic, complex and lengthy permitting processes, compounded by bureaucratic inefficiencies, pose significant barriers, and can take up to several years in the worst cases. Despite efforts to implement new laws and digital solutions to streamline these processes, their effectiveness remains questionable in both countries.

Strategic Marketing and Sales: Effective timing of marketing and sales initiatives is essential throughout the development project lifecycle. It's beneficial to align marketing and sales activities with the project's progress. The early stages, before building permits are obtained, are ideal for promoting pre-sales and attracting customers with introductory prices and reservation agreements that require minimal commitment fees. These early commitments provide valuable information about market interest and maintain flexibility, benefiting both clients and developers. Once building permits are secured, the marketing approach should shift to actively promoting sales, highlighting the potential for price increases that can motivate customers to engage during the pre-sale phase. This strategy should continue until the project meets its pre-sales targets, adjusting as necessary based on evolving market conditions.

Value Addition and Customer Attraction: Strategic location choices are essential as they align with consumer preferences for comfort and lifestyle. Practical apartment layouts that optimize living space and functionality directly address consumer needs and enhance a property's appeal. In addition, the provision of desirable features such as basements for extra storage, secure garages for vehicle security, and wellmaintained green spaces for recreation increases the attractiveness of residential projects. These features can improve the quality of life for residents, but also increase the marketability of the project.

Managing Risk During the Development Process: The pre-approval phase is the riskiest because of the potential for lengthy permitting processes that can seriously impact financial planning and project schedules. To effectively mitigate these risks, developers must employ a highly skilled team that can navigate complex regulatory environments and anticipate market shifts. Developing robust plans for different market scenarios is critical to maintaining operational flexibility and responsiveness. In addition, maintaining an awareness of the competitive landscape is important for making timely adjustments to strategies to ensure they remain aligned with evolving market expectations and regulatory frameworks.

For the analysis of conditions in the Czech and German markets, the PESTLE structure was modified according to the insights from expert interviews to provide relevant data on residential development and housing.

The Table 5 presents the PESTLE structure for the purposes of this thesis. In each environment, there are specific sections that will help navigate the analysis of both markets.

| PESTLE structure | | |
|---|--|--|
| Political environment | Economic environment | |
| Government policies on housing Housing regulations | Key economic indicators Economic forecast Taxation | |
| Socio-cultural environment | Technological environment | |
| Demographic trends and urbanization Customer preferences and behavior Market trends | DESI index Innovations in construction | |
| Legal environment | Environmental environment | |
| Construction law Bureaucracy level | Environmental regulations | |

Table 5: PESTLE Structure

Source: own processing according to (Personal communication, 2024)

The following chapters will explore each environment and sections of the PESTLE analysis, beginning with an analysis of the Czech Republic. This examination will highlight the specific political, economic, socio-cultural, technological, legal, and environmental factors that shape the residential development landscape in each country.

3.1 Czech Republic – PESTLE

Czech Republic is a European country with a population of 10.9 million and its capital city is Prague. The country covers an area of 78,867 km2 and shares borders with Poland to the north, Slovakia to the east, Austria to the south, and Germany to the west. (European Union, 2024)

3.1.1 Political Environment

Czech Republic operates as a parliamentary republic, with a prime minister serving as the head of government and a president as the head of state. The country was established in 1993 following the split of Czechoslovakia into the Czech Republic and Slovakia. Currently, the country is divided into 14 regions, including Prague. (European Union, 2024) The current government of the Czech Republic is a coalition led by Prime Minister Petr Fiala of the ODS. The coalition includes five parties: ODS, the Pirate Party, TOP 09, the Christian Democratic Union (KDU-ČSL), and the Mayors and Independents (STAN). The president of the Czech Republic is Petr Pavel. (Government of the Czech Republic, 2024)

For understanding of the political environment of the Czech Republic regarding residential development, the following sections provide description of governments policies and regulations in the housing market.

Government Policies on Housing

To understand the current government policies, it is important to consider the context of the actual situation in the Czech housing market. In Czech Republic, a significant proportion of households, particularly in urban areas, face difficulties in accessing affordable housing. House prices have grown faster than household disposable income. While the rise in house prices benefits the significant number of Czech homeowners, it poses considerable challenges for new entrants, especially young people, trying to buy their first home. At the same time, rents have also risen, and the private rental market, constrained by relatively limited supply, offers few affordable housing alternatives for those in need. (OECD, 2021)

Czech Republic has a housing policy that is designed to create a favorable legal, institutional, and fiscal environment for all actors in the housing market. The government provides support for vulnerable groups that are unable to secure housing on the market through a variety of programs and financial aid. There is the government-approved housing policy concept, which is a strategic document for all ministries. It sets the basic directions for the development of housing and specific objectives in this field. The objectives of the housing policy are achieved through legal regulations and supportive housing instruments, including programs financed from the State budget through the Ministry of Regional Development of the Czech Republic and financial aid from the State Investment Support Fund. (MMR, 2024)

The primary instruments of the housing policy are the housing allowance and the housing supplement. The housing allowance provides financial assistance for rental

and housing expenses to approximately 200,000 beneficiaries. For households that still struggle to meet basic needs despite receiving the housing allowance, the housing supplement offers additional support. These measures are designed to enhance housing affordability and assist households that are unable to independently secure housing in the market. (OECD, 2021)

Another topic that the current government is targeting is social housing. In the Czech Republic, social housing is understood to be municipally owned housing that is allocated based on criteria decided by the municipality. The social housing stock in the Czech Republic is too small to meet the demand of all low-income households. The municipal rental sector was created after 1991 by transferring state-owned dwellings to municipalities, but municipalities then privatized a major part of their housing stock due to a lack of financial and human resources for maintenance. Social rental dwellings account for only 0.4% of the total number of dwellings in the Czech Republic. The shortage of social housing is also evident in the long waiting lists of aspiring tenants applying for social housing, with a median wait time of 24 months and, in 18% of municipalities, it can reach 60 months or longer. (OECD, 2021)

To address the issue of social housing, the government has implemented various programs. For example, the Ministry of Regional Development, has announced support for social housing with a total budget of 1.9 billion CZK (approximately 76 million EUR) sourced from the European Fund for Regional Development. This financial support is designated for municipalities, regions, churches, and nonprofit organizations, which can receive grants covering 70–85% of the costs for construction, reconstruction, or acquisition of housing units. The conditions of the program have been revised to take into account the current rise in construction labor and material costs. The goal of the program is to provide housing for people in need who do not own property and whose incomes do not exceed the average pension. This program may be the last opportunity to secure such a high level of funding, with a future transition to favored loans. (MMR, 2024)

In conclusion, the Czech government is attempting to address the critical issues of housing affordability and availability through comprehensive policy measures. By increasing the availability of financial aid, revising the conditions of support programs, and expanding the social housing sector, the government aims to create a more balanced and accessible housing market. This is especially crucial in urban areas where the gaps between income growth and housing costs are most evident.

Housing Regulations

Housing regulations in the Czech Republic can be considered moderately market-friendly, as for example rent regulations allow for some flexibility in how landlords can adjust rental prices. This is primarily influenced by the type of contract and market conditions. Generally, most rental contracts, especially in Prague, are agreed upon for a duration of one year. Landlords have the right to renegotiate the rent at the end of each term, which can lead to significant increases depending on the market conditions. This flexibility allows landlords to adjust rents in response to inflation and other economic factors. It also permits tenants to relocate if they find the new terms unfavorable. Another important fact is that for example in case of eviction, this process can take more than one year, which can be considered as a negative effect for landlords. (Expats.cz, 2023)

Above mentioned means, that market-friendly nature of Czech rent regulations can be seen as both positive and negative. On the positive side, it helps keep the rental market dynamic and responsive to economic changes, potentially leading to better-maintained properties and a more competitive market overall. However, this can also lead to instability for tenants who may face significant rent increases at the end of each lease term, making housing affordability a concern for many, especially in high-demand areas like Prague.

In response to the negative effects of the current market-oriented regulations, the Czech government has proposed modifications to the rental housing market, including the introduction of a minimum rental period of three years and the possibility of rent increases linked to property improvements. These changes are intended to provide greater stability for both tenants and landlords, while encouraging property owners to renovate and make their properties more energy efficient. In addition, the proposed changes would allow landlords to terminate indefinite rentals without cause on an 18-month notice. Tenants would also be able to challenge unfair rent increases more effectively. These are currently just proposals and require further discussion with relevant stakeholders. (Štuková, 2023)

In summary, the proposed changes to the Czech rental market regulations aim to balance tenants' needs for stability with landlords' flexibility. By introducing a minimum rental period and tying rent increases to property improvements, the policy seeks to achieve mutual benefits. However, these regulations also raise questions about their impact on market dynamics and investment incentives. Careful consideration and stakeholder engagement are essential to ensure that these reforms support a dynamic and balanced housing market.

3.1.2 Economic Environment

Czech Republic, a medium-sized, open, and export-oriented economy, is highly dependent on foreign demand, especially from the Eurozone. About 70 % of its exports go to other EU member states, with Germany alone accounting for 26 %, making it the Czech Republic's largest trading partner. (International Trade Administration, 2023)

The economic environment of the country will be analyzed by describing key economic indicators both in general and in the context of residential development, economic forecast, and taxation.

Key Economic Indicators

The table below provides an overview of the Czech Republic's economic indicators from 2018 to 2022, including fluctuations in GDP, inflation, unemployment, capital investment and foreign direct investment inflows.

GDP is the sum of gross value added by all resident producers in the economy, inflation is percent change in the consumer price index, unemployment refers to the share of the labor force that is without work but available for and seeking employment, capital investment is the total expenditure on fixed assets—such as improvements to land, purchases of machinery and equipment, and construction of infrastructure—and inventory changes in an economy, and foreign direct investment inflows refers to direct investment equity flows to the reporting economy. (TheGlobalEconomy.com, 2024)

The Table 6 details key economic indicators for the Czech Republic from 2018 to 2022, highlighting the economic fluctuations.

| Year/Indicator | GDP, billions of U.S. dollars | Inflation rate | Unemployment rate | Capital investment, billion USD | FDI inflows, billion USD | |
|----------------|-------------------------------------|----------------|----------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|--|
| 2018 | 249 | 2.1 | 2.25 | 67.72 | 8.32 | |
| 2019 | 252.55 | 2.8 | 2.02 | 69.72 | 10.75 | |
| 2020 | 245.97 | 3.2 | 2.55 | 64.33 | 8.52 | |
| 2021 | 281.79 | 3.8 | 2.8 | 85.15 | 12.89 | |
| 2022 | 290.57 | 15.1 | 2.22 | 93.41 | 10.53 | |

Table 6: Czech Republic Economic Indicators: 2018-2022 Overview

Source: own processing according to (TheGlobalEconomy.com, 2024)

The gradual increase in GDP from 249 billion USD in 2018 to 290.57 USD billion in 2022 shows a solid economic trajectory, even considering a dip in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The most noteworthy figure in 2022, however, is the inflation rate, which spikes to 15.1%. This spike is largely due to global geopolitical tensions, particularly the war in Ukraine, which has disrupted supply chains and increased energy prices worldwide. Such inflation pressures could reduce consumer purchasing power and increase the cost of living.

The real estate market, often seen as a safe place for investors in times of economic uncertainty, has also been affected in 2022. Rising inflation generally leads to higher interest rates, which in turn can cool real estate markets by increasing the cost of mortgage financing. Despite these challenges, low unemployment rates (approximately 2 to 3 %) indicate that the labor market remains robust, potentially absorbing some of the economic shocks experienced in other sectors.

The Table 7 presents a quarterly overview of the indicators important for residential development in Czech Republic in the years from 2018 to 2023.

| Year/Quart | ter/Indicator | Economic growth, % change in quarterly real GDP | Real residential property prices Y-on-Y, % change | Business credit interest rate, % | Mortgage credit interest rate, % |
|------------|---------------|---|--|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| | Q1 | 4.7 | 5.62 | 2.83 | 2.35 |
| 2018 | Q2 | 2.8 | 5.66 | 2.88 | 2.5 |
| 2016 | Q3 | 2.7 | 6.29 | 3.13 | 2.55 |
| | Q4 | 2.6 | 7.65 | 3.52 | 2.78 |
| | Q1 | 3 | 6.86 | 3.68 | 2.95 |
| 2019 | Q2 | 3.1 | 6.25 | 3.76 | 2.8 |
| 2019 | Q3 | 3 | 5.72 | 3.80 | 2.62 |
| | Q4 | 2.8 | 5.74 | 3.80 | 2.37 |
| | Q1 | -1.5 | 4.82 | 3.69 | 2.42 |
| 2020 Q3 | Q2 | -10.8 | 4.5 | 2.84 | 2.3 |
| | Q3 | -5.2 | 4.9 | 2.55 | 2.1 |
| | Q4 | -4.6 | 6.16 | 2.55 | 2 |
| | Q1 | -1.9 | 10.93 | 2.55 | 1.95 |
| 2021 | Q2 | 9.2 | 13.92 | 2.56 | 2.07 |
| 2021 | Q3 | 3.8 | 17.3 | 2.78 | 2.3 |
| | Q4 | 3.4 | 18.5 | 3.91 | 2.75 |
| | Q1 | 4.7 | 11.93 | 5.27 | 3.82 |
| 2022 | Q2 | 3.4 | 5.63 | 6.31 | 4.92 |
| 2022 | Q3 | 1.3 | -1.69 | 7.25 | 5.75 |
| | Q4 | 0.1 | -7.58 | 7.32 | 6.03 |
| | Q1 | -0.2 | -13.46 | 7.36 | 6 |
| 2023 | Q2 | -0.1 | -12.47 | 7.39 | 5.98 |
| 2023 | Q3 | -0.6 | -10.69 | 7.41 | 5.87 |
| Q4 | | 0.2 | - | 7.40 | 5.77 |

Table 7: Trends in Economic Growth, Property Prices, and Credit Rates in the Czech Republic (2018-2023)

Source: own processing according to (TheGlobalEconomy.com, 2024), (ČBA Monitor, 2024)

GDP percent change is the percent change in the gross domestic product from the same quarter last year using constant prices, real residential property prices Y-on-Y measures the annual change in residential property prices, business credit interest rate is the average interest rate on the loan products offered by commercial banks to non-financial corporations, and the mortgage credit interest rate is the average interest rate on products offered to individuals and households by the commercial banks in the country. (TheGlobalEconomy.com, 2024)

Table 7 shows significant fluctuations in economic growth, residential property prices, and credit rates in the Czech Republic from 2018 to 2023, providing a detailed view of economic indicators and their interrelationships. In 2020 and 2021, despite broader global economic challenges, the Czech real estate market experienced a notable boom. This boom was fueled by historically low interest rates, a strong cultural preference for property ownership, and a chronic undersupply in the market.

These factors combined to make real estate a highly attractive investment, driving up property prices as demand continued to outpace available supply.

However, the landscape changed significantly in 2022, influenced by global geopolitical tensions and economic pressures, particularly the war in Ukraine, which increased inflation and led to a significant rise in interest rates. This increase in borrowing costs cooled the previously booming real estate market, leading to a significant slowdown in property price growth. By 2023, the data show a slow decline in interest rates in the second half of the year, reflecting a stabilization in inflation rate, which returned to the inflation target of 2 % by early 2024, according to ČNB (2024).

The normalization of inflation and the associated decline in interest rates could signal a potential recovery or stabilization in the real estate market. As credit becomes more affordable and inflation moves closer to target, consumer confidence may improve, leading to renewed interest in property purchases. This could gradually unfreeze the real estate market and restart demand, especially if supply shortages remain unaddressed. The deferred demand that accumulated during the period of high interest rates and economic uncertainty may begin to emerge as buyers re-enter the market, potentially leading to a recovery in property prices. However, this recovery will be dependent on broader economic conditions, including continued stability in the global geopolitical situation and effective domestic economic policies.

Economic Forecast

In 2024, the Czech economy is expected to recover with growth of 1.4%. Private consumption, which has been declining for two years, is expected to increase again, while government consumption is expected to slow down due to the consolidation of public finances. In 2025, GDP growth is projected to accelerate to 2,6 % on the back of stronger dynamics in all components of domestic demand and more favorable international economic conditions. (MFČR, 2024)

Inflation, which approached the Czech National Bank's target of 2% in early 2024, is expected to remain below the upper limit of tolerance throughout the year. Previously strong pro-inflationary foreign supply factors have weakened significantly, and pressures on domestic demand will continue to be reduced by higher monetary policy rates, further supported by the restrictive effects of a fiscal consolidation package. Average inflation is expected to decline to 2.7 % in 2024 and further to 2.4 % in 2025. (MFČR, 2024)

Taxation

The tax system in the Czech Republic is similar to that of other European countries and includes both direct and indirect taxes. Direct taxes in the Czech system include corporate and personal income taxes, real estate taxes, and road taxes. Indirect taxes include value-added tax (VAT), excise taxes, and environmental taxes. (MFČR, 2021)

The Table 8 presents the rates for personal income tax, corporate tax, and VAT.

| Table 8: Personal Income | Tax and Corporate | Tax in the Czech Republic |
|--------------------------|-------------------|---------------------------|
| | | |

| Personal li | ncome Tax | Corporate Tax | | |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|---------------|-----|----------------|
| Under 48x the avg. wage | Over 48x the avg. wage | Corporate tax | V | АТ |
| 15% | 23% | 21% | 21% | 12% reduced |

Source: own processing according to (PWC, 2024)

Other important taxes, according to (PWC, 2024), are as follows:

Real Estate Transfer Tax: The real estate transfer tax in the Czech Republic was cancelled in 2020.

Real Estate Tax: The real estate tax is an annual obligation for owners of land or buildings. The tax amount is determined based on the area, location, and usage of the property.

3.1.3 Socio – Cultural Environment

The socio-cultural environment of the Czech Republic will be analyzed by describing Demographic trends and urbanization, specifics of customer preferences and behavior, and important trends in the housing market.

Demographic Trends and Urbanization

The country has a large number of mostly small municipalities and a relatively even population distribution. The capital, Prague, has 1.3 million residents, and there are five other cities with more than 100,000 residents each. (European Commission, 2023)

Demographic trends are characterized by a low fertility rate and strong urbanization, as in 2022, fertility rate was 1.62 children per woman and 74.38% of population lived in urban areas. These factors highlight a shift towards smaller families and a preference for urban living, which will shape future urban development and demographic policies. (Statista, 2024)

There is an aging trend with significant shifts in population structure. In 2022, the pre-productive age group (0-14 years) accounted for 16.2% of the population, the productive age group (15-64 years) for 63.4%, and the post-productive age group (65 years and older) for 20.4%. Future projections indicate that the population will continue to age, mainly due to an increase in the number of older people, while the proportion of the population in the productive age group is expected to decrease. (European Commission, 2023)

Customer Preferences and Behavior

Consumers in the Czech Republic are keen to invest in real estate, driven by the potential for lucrative returns. In fact, an increasing number of individuals and families are choosing to buy homes instead of renting, as according to Hypoindex.cz (2022), share of owner-occupied housing in Czech Republic is 71,8%. That is a trend which is significantly increasing the demand for residential real estate throughout the country. Consumer behavior in the real estate market is characterized not only by a preference for buying over renting, but also by a cautious approach to investment. Czech consumers are known for their pragmatism and in-depth evaluation of properties before deciding to buy. They often prioritize long-term value in their housing choices, reflecting a deep-rooted desire for financial security and stability. (Statista, 2024)

Market Trends

A significant trend in the Czech real estate market is the increasing demand for residential property, especially in urban centers. This increase is primarily due to population growth and an uprising of people moving to cities in search of better employment opportunities, which has led to a shortage of affordable housing and a corresponding rise in real estate prices. In addition, there is a growing interest in commercial real estate, particularly in the retail and office sectors. Supported by a booming tourism industry and a flourishing business climate, the Czech Republic, and Prague in particular, is attracting a mix of local and international companies, increasing the demand for office and retail space. This demand is pushing up both rental rates and property values across the country. (Statista, 2024)

3.1.4 Technological Environment

The technological environment of the Czech Republic is analyzed by describing innovations in the construction industry and the DESI index report, which serves as an effective evaluation of technological progress in the country.

DESI Index

The Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) was created by the European Commission to track and evaluate the digital performance of EU member states in key areas, such as connectivity, human capital, integration of digital technologies, and digital public services. DESI serves as a critical tool for EU countries to assess their digital competitiveness and identify areas requiring urgent attention. The index is updated annually and provides essential data to assist policymakers, businesses, and the public in making informed decisions about digital investments and strategies. (European Commission, 2023)

In the 2022 Digital Economy and Society Index (2022), the Czech Republic is ranked 19th out of the 27 member states of the EU. The DESI (2022) report shows Czech Republic's performance in specific areas as follows: **Human Capital:** In the human capital dimension, the Czech Republic stands 15th out of the 27 EU countries, with a score in line with the EU average. 60% of the population in the Czech Republic have at least basic digital skills, above the EU average of 54%. However, when it comes to more advanced digital skills, the Czech Republic falls below the EU average, with 24% having such skills compared to 26% in the EU. While the share of ICT professionals in the workforce has increased to 4.6%, slightly above the EU average of 4.5%, the Czech Republic has the lowest share of female ICT professionals in the EU.

Connectivity: In terms of connectivity, the Czech Republic ranks 17th out of 27 EU countries, with a score below the EU average, an improvement from 22nd place in 2021. For fixed networks, there was a notable increase in the number of households covered by very high-capacity fixed networks in 2021, reaching 52%, up from 33% in 2020.

Integration of Digital Technology: Among the 27 EU countries, the Czech Republic comes 19th in the integration of digital technology, a drop from 15th place in 2021. The country's SMEs are slightly below the EU average of 55%, with 53% having at least a basic level of digital intensity. The percentage of enterprises using software to share information electronically across different sectors remains stable at the EU average of 38%. Although the use of social media by enterprises increases from 20% in 2019 to 24% in 2021, it is still below the EU average of 29%. Additionally, the country is significantly below the Digital Decade target, with less than 75% of enterprises utilizing cloud computing, big data, or AI.

Digital Public Services: Czech Republic saw an improvement in its ranking for digital public services, moving up from 20th place in 2021 to 17th place in 2022. Country's share of e-government users has increased by 12 percentage points to 76% in 2021, 65%. well above the EU average of Although its score for pre-filled forms remain low at 41, the Czech Republic's scores for digital public services for citizens (75) and businesses (81) are in line with the EU average. The digital transformation of public services is a key focus for the government, with Ivan Bartos of the Pirate Party taking up a cabinet position responsible for the sector, the first such appointment since 2007.

Innovations in Construction

In the Czech Republic, construction companies are struggling with rising costs and labor shortages. This led to the establishment of the National Center for Construction 4.0 (NCS) in 2022, which should be a significant step towards the technological future of the construction industry in the country. Construction 4.0 introduces and optimizes the synergy of digitalization, automation, and sustainable environmental practices in construction. It represents a completely new way of thinking, planning, executing, and maintaining buildings throughout their entire life cycle. It also aims to map and minimize the impact of construction activities on the external environment and the lasting effects these activities have on the surrounding nature. (MPO, 2023)

One of the examples of the country's efforts to innovate the construction industry is Building Information Modeling (BIM), which has been officially integrated into the Czech Republic's public administration as a key strategy for the digitalization of the construction industry. This initiative began with Government Resolution No. 682/2017, which mandated the Ministry of Industry and Trade, along with other associated agencies, to promote the adoption of BIM. BIM is mandatory for the management of public construction projects exceeding 150 million CZK, ensuring its application in significant public infrastructure developments. In response to evolving needs and technological advancements, the Czech government has planned further updates to the BIM implementation strategy to align with current sector requirements and improve the digital infrastructure of public administration. (Koncepce BIM, 2022)

There are several other technology trends that have the potential to improve the efficiency as well as safety of the Czech construction industry. The use of blockchain for smart contracts could streamline project management and secure transactions. Drones, which are increasingly being used in construction, offer the prospect of real-time data collection, which can facilitate faster decision-making and improve safety through aerial monitoring and mapping. Comprehensive construction management software could also play a critical role in improving data collection, communication, and resource monitoring to maintain project competitiveness and operational efficiency. Together, these innovations could lead to a more integrated, efficient, and safer construction environment in the Czech Republic. (BusinessInfo.cz, 2021)

3.1.5 Legal Environment

The Czech legal system, which is part of the continental legal culture, is based on written law and includes laws and other legal regulations, ratified, and proclaimed international treaties to which the Parliament of the Czech Republic has consented, as well as decisions of the Constitutional Court annulling a legal regulation or a part of it. (Blažek, 2022)

Legal environment of the Czech Republic will be analyzed by describing construction law and bureaucracy level in the country.

Construction Law

One of the most significant challenges regarding the development process in the Czech Republic is the ineffectiveness and duration of the building permitting process. According to the World Bank (2019), the average time needed for obtaining a building permit is 246 days, and the developer must go through 21 procedures. In practice, for example, when it comes to larger residential development projects, the permitting process can take years.

According to the old building act, which is partly in effect until July 30, 2024, the building permitting process is divided into two main procedures: land-use proceedings and building proceedings, each of which has its own specifics and a significant number of stages. (Kuzmová, 2023)

The land use proceeding is an essential process for obtaining approval for most construction projects. It is managed by the local municipal building authority and involves an assessment of how a building will fit into its surroundings and whether it is in line with land-use planning, environmental protection, and other public interests. The process is designed to ensure that projects are in harmony with local urban plans and have minimal negative impact on the environment. (Hejná, 2021)

The process begins with a formal application from an applicant and includes required documentation such as binding opinions from relevant authorities. It then proceeds through stages of public involvement, especially for significant or environmentally sensitive projects, and a period during which impacted parties can submit objections.

A key component is a hearing at which the authority evaluates the project considering local conditions and regulations. Ultimately, the authority issues a land use decision, which can be appealed by stakeholders if they believe their concerns have not been adequately addressed. This decision is important because it determines whether the project meets urban planning and environmental standards, balancing development with community and environmental needs. (Kuk, 2022)

The building proceeding is a process that is essential for obtaining approval for construction. Managed by the building authority, it evaluates whether and under what conditions a specific construction plan can be executed. Its main goal is to ensure that the construction meets all legal requirements, fits well with its surroundings, and is properly connected to the existing transportation and technical infrastructure. This process includes the evaluation of the adaptation to the environment, including environmental aspects. (Hejná, 2021)

The process begins when an applicant applies to the building authority, including the necessary permits and project documentation. The authority then reviews the application for compliance with urban plans and mandatory public administration opinions. If the application is complete, the process formally begins, and all parties are notified. If changes are identified that could have a negative impact on the environment, an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) may be required. Throughout the process, parties can submit objections, which the building authority must address individually in the building permit. If the process is successful, the building permit is issued, and construction can begin. If participants are dissatisfied with the decision, they can appeal to a higher authority. (Kuk, 2022)

As mentioned, and described, the whole building permitting process is very time consuming and ineffective. For this reason, the government has decided to implement a new building act, which will come into effect on January 1, 2024, with a transition period until July 30. (Kuzmová, 2023)

With the implementation of the new Building Act, all parties will now participate in the process digitally through the Builder's Portal and other information systems, although selected documents may still be submitted in paper form. The new law introduces a unified procedure for both the land-use proceedings and building proceedings,

streamlining the process. Specifically, permits for simple constructions will be issued within 30 days of the application, while other constructions will be assessed within 60 days, with the possibility for the building authority to extend this period by another 60 days. If the builder fails to submit mandatory opinions from relevant authorities, the building authority will obtain them directly without stopping the procedure. The appeal process has also been revised; if a building authority's decision is appealed, the case will not be returned to the original authority but will be reviewed by a higher building authority. Developers can request advance information on the criteria used by the building authority to evaluate permit applications. (MMR, 2024)

Overall, the New Building Act is the subject of many criticisms from all stakeholders. For example, according to Řežáb (2024), the positive fact is that there is an effort to make the process more effective and faster, but on the other hand, there is insufficient preparation of the implementing legal regulations. These are not fully prepared and approved, although being crucial for specifying the requirements for construction and documentation for permits, which can lead to confusion and potential difficulties in practice.

Bureaucracy Level

To gain a deeper insight into the influence of the legal environment on companies, it is useful to consider the level of bureaucracy in the country.

Bureaucracy in the Czech Republic has posed a significant challenge for both local and foreign entrepreneurs, as well as for expatriates seeking to establish a new life in the country. In a study evaluating the most favorable destinations for expatriates seeking to start a new life abroad, the Czech Republic ranked 45th out of 52 countries. Language and bureaucracy were identified as the most challenging aspects. (Smith, 2023)

In response to these challenges, the Czech government has been implementing measures to reduce bureaucracy and improve the ease of doing business. In July 2019, the government approved a three-year strategy to reduce the burden on businesses until 2022, affecting up to 133 obligations. Furthermore, the government

has been focusing on digital projects, such as the Digital Czechia initiative, with the objective of further reducing administrative burdens for businesses. (MPO, 2019)

The Liberal Institute offers the Bureaucracy Index, which serves to measure the bureaucracy in the Czech Republic. The results are specific and accurately reflect the actual circumstances of a small business in the Czech Republic. According to the 2021 results of the index, the average small company in the Czech Republic spends 272 hours a year on paperwork and bureaucracy, which was an increase of 49 hours compared to the year before, leading to conclusion, that governments measures were not effective enough. (Liberální Institut, 2021)

Despite the Czech government's efforts to streamline bureaucratic processes, the country's bureaucratic challenges suggest that more robust measures may be needed to effectively reduce the administrative burden on businesses and improve the overall ease of doing business.

3.1.6 Environmental Environment

The subsequent section will analyze the environmental context of the Czech Republic, with a focus on the country's environmental regulations, particularly those related to the real estate sector.

Environmental Regulations

The Czech Republic has implemented various environmental regulations, particularly in the real estate market and development sector, to ensure sustainable and environmentally friendly practices. The Czech government has adopted the State Environmental Policy 2030, which outlines goals for environmental protection, comprehensively covers environmental issues, and sets strategic direction until 2030 with a view to 2050. (MZP, 2021)

In the real estate sector, the country has implemented the new Building Act, which requires the consideration of environmental aspects in the planning and development of buildings. The new Building Act also applies the new Act on the Unified Environmental Assessment, which is administered by the Ministry of the Environment and introduces the Unified Environmental Assessment, which is issued as a binding opinion. The law replaces binding opinions and decisions previously issued under nine different laws related to environmental protection, such as the Nature and Landscape Protection Act, the Forestry Act, the Water Act, and the Air Protection Act. In addition, the Energy Conservation Act implements EU requirements for the energy efficiency of buildings, requiring energy performance certificates for new buildings and major changes to existing buildings. (Baker McKenzie, 2024)

The Czech Republic's approach to environmental regulation, not only in the real estate sector, demonstrates its dedication to integrating sustainability with market dynamics. By harmonizing environmental policies with the construction industry, the country intends to achieve a balance between ecological objectives and economic growth and development needs.

3.2 Germany – PESTLE

Federal Republic of Germany is a European country with a population of 84.7 million people and its capital is Berlin. The country covers an area of 357,590 km² and its neighbors are Denmark to the north, Netherlands, Belgium, France and Luxembourg to the west, Switzerland, and Austria to the south and Czech Republic and Poland to the east. The main language is German. (European Union, 2024)

3.2.1 Political Environment

Germany operates as a federal parliamentary democracy led by both a chancellor, who serves as head of government, and a president, whose role is primarily ceremonial. The nation is divided into 16 states, each with its own constitution and a high degree of autonomy in internal matters. Among these states are three city-states: Bremen, Berlin, and Hamburg. (Facts About Germany, 2024)

The current government is led by Chancellor Olaf Scholz and is a coalition of the Social Democratic Party (SPD), the Greens, and the Free Democratic Party (FDP). The coalition's agenda encompasses a wide range of policies, particularly focusing on combating climate change, improving the housing market, and social welfare. (deutschland.de, 2023)

To understand the impact of the German political environment on residential development, the following sections will provide information on government policies and regulations regarding housing.

Government Policies on Housing

Before describing government policies on the housing market and any subsidies they may provide, it is important to provide context by describing the current state of Germany's housing market. This will help to better understand the purpose of government policies.

In Germany, there is currently a significant housing shortage, with two main contributing factors. Firstly, the country's population has reached a historic high, and

the federal government estimates that 400,000 new apartments are needed each year. (The Federal Government, 2022) Secondly, the combination of the COVID-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine led to the rise of inflation, which resulted in rising interest rates (Knight, 2023).

In summary, Germany needs to build hundreds of thousands of apartments every year. However, due to the high cost of materials and capital, developers are unable to build quickly enough to meet demand. This has resulted in a situation where demand exceeds supply.

In response to these problems, the German government and the Alliance for Affordable Housing have launched a plan to build 400,000 apartments per year. The plan aims to enhance housing affordability and accessibility, with a commitment of over €200 billion to mitigate rising costs for people and companies and a push for 100,000 subsidized social housing units. This initiative involves a substantial increase in social housing subsidies to €14.5 billion by 2026, as well as support programs for young families. (The Federal Government, 2022)

The adoption of innovative construction methods, such as serial and modular building, along with the integration of Building Information Modelling (BIM) technology, is central to this effort. BIM enables efficient and collaborative planning, contributing to the project's goals of rapid, cost-effective, and environmentally friendly construction. The government ensures ongoing evaluation to adapt and refine its approach to meet its ambitious housing targets. (The Federal Government, 2022)

When it comes to above mentioned social housing in Germany, this support is aimed at households who are unable to find suitable accommodation on the open market, such as low-income families, the elderly, and the disabled. Developers can benefit from preferential loans or subsidies to provide affordable rental housing and support owner-occupied housing. In exchange, they must rent these units to eligible households, which are determined by income levels. Since 2006, social housing funding has been the responsibility of the federal states, with the Federal Government providing financial support. (Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community, 2023) In summary, the German government is actively attempting to address its housing crisis by promoting new residential construction and improving affordability through significant investment and innovative technologies. The focus on increasing social housing subsidies and support for families demonstrates a desire to ensure accessible housing for all, especially for those struggling in the competitive market. This comprehensive approach aims to stabilize the housing sector and improve living conditions across the country.

Housing Regulations

The German housing market is subject to various regulations aimed at controlling rent increases and making housing more affordable. One of the primary measures is the Rent Control, which was introduced in 2015 to slow rising rents in highly populated cities. This regulation limits the rent for new rentals to only 10 % above the local comparative rent, which is determined based on the average rent for similar properties in the same area. Although it has been criticized for not effectively reducing rents, it has helped slow the rate of rent increase in many cities. (Conny, 2019)

Another significant measure introduced in Berlin at the beginning of 2020 was the Rent Cap. The goal was to freeze rents for five years and limit them to a maximum of 10% above the local average in areas with a strained housing market. However, in April 2021, the Federal Constitutional Court declared it unconstitutional. (PWC, 2021)

In 2021, the Building Land Mobilization Act was implemented. Key regulations include simplifying the process for granting building permits, especially in areas with a tight housing market, introducing a prohibition on converting rental apartments into condominiums without a permit and simplifying the preparation of development plans to accelerate housing construction. (PWC, 2021)

These measures reflect Germany's multifaceted approach to addressing the challenges in the housing market, aiming to stabilize rent prices and increase the availability of affordable housing. However, the effectiveness and impact of these regulations on the market dynamic continue to be a subject of debate among policymakers, developers, landlords, and tenants alike.

3.2.2 Economic Environment

Germany is the largest economy in Europe and the third largest globally, following the United States and China. Germany's position as the third-largest exporter worldwide is mainly due to its strong exports of motor vehicles and chemical products. The service sector is the most significant contributor to the nation's GDP, accounting for 70% of it. (Glunz, 2024)

The economic environment will be analyzed by examining key economic indicators that impact residential development, including taxation and the economic forecast for the next two years.

Key Economic Indicators

The Table 9 presents Germany's economic indicators from 2018 to 2022, including fluctuations in GDP, inflation, unemployment, capital investment, and foreign direct investment inflows.

| Year/Indicator | GDP, billions of U.S. dollars | Inflation rate | Unemployment rate | Capital investment, billion USD | FDI inflows, billion USD |
|----------------|-------------------------------------|----------------|----------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| 2018 | 3974.44 | 1.7 | 3.38 | 871.18 | 166.92 |
| 2019 | 3889.18 | 1.4 | 3.14 | 850.55 | 73.97 |
| 2020 | 3887.73 | 0.1 | 3.86 | 854.11 | 160.8 |
| 2021 | 4278.5 | 3.1 | 3.64 | 993.32 | 95.9 |
| 2022 | 4082.47 | 6.9 | 3.14 | 1021.79 | 47.37 |

Table 9: Germany Economic Indicators: 2018-2022 Overview

Source: own processing according to (TheGlobalEconomy.com, 2024)

The initial two years demonstrate relatively stable economic conditions. However, in 2020, there was a significant downturn across several indicators, which reflects the global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The most striking data point is the increase in inflation in 2022, which was caused by the war in Ukraine.

The years 2021 and 2022 have seen a slow economic recovery, with increases in GDP and capital investment. However, the war in Ukraine in early 2022 has caused new economic pressures, most notably a sharp increase in inflation and disruptions in trade and supply chains, which are reflected in the unstable investment figures. The impact of geopolitical tensions and global market instability on the German

economy is reflected in these changes, affecting not only the cost of goods but also investment inflows.

The Table 10 presents a quarterly overview of the indicators important for residential development in Germany in the years from 2018 to 2023.

| (2018-202 | .5/ | | | | |
|------------|---------------|---|--|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Year/Quart | ter/Indicator | Economic growth, % change in quarterly real GDP | Real residential property prices Y-on-Y, % change | Business credit interest rate, % | Mortgage credit interest rate, % |
| | Q1 | 1.9 | 5.3 | 2.15 | 1.85 |
| 2018 | Q2 | 1.8 | 4.79 | 2.08 | 1.9 |
| 2018 | Q3 | 0.2 | 5.03 | 2.02 | 1.87 |
| | Q4 | 0.1 | 4.18 | 2.01 | 1.86 |
| | Q1 | 1.4 | 3.91 | 1.98 | 1.79 |
| 2019 | Q2 | 0.6 | 4.21 | 1.94 | 1.62 |
| 2019 | Q3 | 1.5 | 3.8 | 1.91 | 1.38 |
| | Q4 | 0.9 | 5.23 | 1.91 | 1.27 |
| 2020 | Q1 | -1.5 | 5.29 | 1.88 | 1.28 |
| | Q2 | -10.6 | 5.76 | 1.81 | 1.31 |
| | Q3 | -2.6 | 8.88 | 1.82 | 1.24 |
| | Q4 | -2.1 | 8.85 | 1.83 | 1.17 |
| | Q1 | -1.6 | 7.7 | 1.78 | 1.18 |
| 2021 | Q2 | 10.8 | 9.08 | 1.77 | 1.26 |
| 2021 | Q3 | 2.4 | 8.56 | 1.74 | 1.28 |
| | Q4 | 1.6 | 7.53 | 1.69 | 1.31 |
| | Q1 | 4 | 6.51 | 1.66 | 1.48 |
| 2022 | Q2 | 1.6 | 2.77 | 1.71 | 2.53 |
| 2022 | Q3 | 1.2 | -2.77 | 1.95 | 2.88 |
| | Q4 | 0.8 | -11.19 | 2.64 | 3.46 |
| | Q1 | -0.1 | -13.89 | 3.22 | 3.78 |
| 2023 | Q2 | 0.1 | -15.19 | 3.74 | 3.98 |
| 2023 | Q3 | -0.3 | -14.99 | 4.1 | 4.09 |
| | Q4 | -0.2 | - | 4.32 | 4.15 |

Table 10: Trends in Economic Growth, Property Prices, and Credit Rates in Germany (2018-2023)

Source: own processing according to (TheGlobalEconomy.com, 2024)

The table shows significant volatility in property prices, with a substantial increase during the pandemic years due to increased demand for dwellings, mostly because of very low interest rates. However, this trend reverses significantly in 2022 and worsens in 2023, likely influenced by the dual pressures of escalating geopolitical tensions due to the war in Ukraine and subsequent economic sanctions affecting Europe. These events led to increased prices for building materials and energy, significantly impacting construction costs and real estate prices.

Furthermore, the rise in business and mortgage credit rates in 2022 and 2023 indicates a tightening of monetary conditions by the European Central Bank in

response to the inflation caused by the war. This increase in interest rates makes borrowing more expensive, which likely contributed to a further cooling of the real estate market by reducing the affordability of mortgages and reducing the willingness to invest in real estate. These facts illustrate the sensitivity of the housing market to macroeconomic policies and external economic shocks.

Economic Forecast

Germany's economic growth forecast for 2024 is modest, with real GDP expected to increase by only 0.2%. This growth represents a slight improvement from the decline experienced in 2023, but still indicates a cautious economic outlook. The main challenges faced are the ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, higher construction and borrowing costs, labor shortages, and high energy prices, which together have dampened investment in construction and energy-intensive sectors. Inflation is expected to decrease from previous highs, which may provide relief to consumers and support a slow recovery in private consumption over the forecast period. (ifo Institute, 2024)

For 2025, a growth forecast of 1.5% is projected, indicating a gradual economic recovery as market conditions stabilize and the negative impacts of current challenges begin to decline. The economic environment is closely linked to global economic dynamics, especially because Germany relies heavily on exports. (ifo Institute, 2024)

Taxation

Germany uses a progressive tax rate system, where the tax rate increases as taxable income increases. This system includes various types of taxes, such as income tax, trade tax, and value-added tax, which are the main sources of revenue for the government. These revenues support essential public services, such as social security, education, healthcare, and transportation infrastructure. (Elter, 2024)

The Table 11 presents the rates for personal income tax, corporate tax, and VAT.

| Personal Ir | ncome Tax | Corporate Tax | | | |
|--------------------------|------------|-----------------|--|--|--|
| Income | Tax Rate | Corporation tax | Trade Tax | | |
| Less than 11.604 EUR | 0% | | combination of a base | | |
| 11.604 - 66.760 EUR | 14% to 42% | 15.825% | rate 3.5% and | | |
| 66.761 - 277.825 EUR | 42% | 13.02376 | municipal tax rate from 8.75% to 20.3% | | |
| More than 277.826 EUR | 45% | VAT | 19%, reduced 7% | | |

Table 11: Personal Income Tax and Corporate Tax in Germany

Source: own processing according to (PWC, 2023)

Other important taxes, according to (PWC, 2023), are as follows:

Property Transfer Tax: When a property valued at more than 2,500 euros changes hands, a property transfer tax is charged. This is a one-time levy, and the tax rate varies by federal state, ranging from 3.5% to 6.5% of the property's value.

Capital Gain Tax: A uniform rate of 25% is applied to income from capital assets, such as dividends, interest, investment fund income, and private capital gains, including the sale of shares or company stakes.

Property Tax: Property tax is levied by municipalities on real estate assets. The tax amount is determined based on the property's assessed value and the local tax rate, which can range from 0.26% to 1%.

3.2.3 Socio – Cultural Environment

The socio-cultural environment in Germany is influenced by evolving Demographic trends and shifting consumer behaviors. The following sections analyze the socio-cultural environment by describing Demographic trends, urbanization, customer preferences and behavior, and housing market trends.

Demographic Trends and Urbanization

In terms of administrative and regional structure, Germany is divided into 16 federal states (Länder), 19 administrative regions, 400 districts, which include 106 municipalities that also function as districts, 294 rural districts, and a total of 10,786 municipalities. (European Commission, 2024).

The country has experienced significant demographic changes in recent decades, influenced by factors such as birth and death rates, the age structure of the population, and trends in urbanization. For example, in 2022, the urbanization rate in Germany was 77.65%, indicating that over three-quarters of the German population lives in urban areas. It is expected to continue growing over time. (Statista, 2024)

These changes reflect trends in other European countries. The population in Germany is aging, as in 2022, the population under the age of 20 was slightly below 15.9 million, representing 18.8% of the total. Meanwhile, the demographic of individuals aged 60 and over was 29.5% in 2022. Despite having one of the highest marriage rates in Europe, which is probably influenced by tax benefits, Germany's fertility rate remains low at only 1.46 children per woman by 2023, indicating a trend that could reduce the size of the labor force and affect economic stability if it continues. (Statista, 2024)

In conclusion, the Demographic trends and urbanization in Germany are characterized by a highly urbanized population, an overall population decline, and an aging society.

Customer Preferences and Behavior

Germany is a mass consumer society where consumers want to know as much as possible about products before making a purchase. They consider aspects such as features and origin in addition to price. Studies suggest that German consumers are among the most highly selective in the world, with some willing to pay a higher price for better quality. Although open to international products, many consumers prefer local, national, and European goods. In Germany, brand loyalty is a significant factor, especially when it comes to quality products. Around 60% of the population is likely to repeatedly purchase the same brand under such circumstances. (Santandertrade.com, 2024)

In the real estate market, consumers significantly prefer properties that are both highquality and energy efficient. This trend is driven by ecological considerations and the potential for long-term savings on energy expenses. Moreover, there is a growing demand for properties with modern features and smart home technologies. Properties located in urban areas with strong infrastructure and easy access to facilities such as schools, shops and public transportation are also in high demand. (Statista, 2024)

Market Trends

The German real estate market is experiencing a significant increase in the desire to rent, driven by factors such as population growth, increasing urbanization and changing lifestyle preferences. In 2022, 58% of households rented their homes. Renting is often preferred over purchasing, especially among young adults and students, due to the flexibility it offers. As a result, there has been a notable growth in the development of rental properties, especially in major urban centers such as Berlin, Munich, and Hamburg. Another trend is the rise of co-living and co-working spaces, which reflects the changing needs and preferences of the younger population, catering to their desire for more adaptable and communal living and working environments. There is also a trend towards smaller household sizes, with an increase in single and two-person households while larger households are decreasing. (Statista, 2024)

3.2.4 Technological Environment

The technological environment in Germany is characterized by a dynamic interplay between advancing digital infrastructure and innovative practices across various sectors, such as construction. The following sections analyze the technological environment by describing the country's results in the DESI index and innovations in construction.

DESI Index

According to the 2022 Digital Economy and Society Index (2022), Germany ranks 13th among the 27 EU Member States. The DESI (2022) report shows Germany's performance in specific areas as follows:

Human Capital: Germany ranks 16th among the 27 EU member states in terms of Human Capital, which is below the EU average. The levels of basic digital skills and digital content creation abilities in Germany are slightly below the EU average.

However, ICT specialists account for 4.9% of the German workforce, slightly above the EU average of 4.5%, and 4.9% of all graduates in Germany are ICT graduates, compared to the EU average of 3.9%.

Connectivity: Germany ranks 4th in the Connectivity dimension among the 27 EU countries. The country has improved across most connectivity indicators for fixed networks, and now has a fast broadband coverage of 96%, providing a robust foundation for digital participation within society and the economy.

Integration of Digital Technology: Germany ranks 16th among EU countries in terms of integrating digital technology into business activities. Its performance on most indicators in this category closely aligns with the EU average. This includes metrics such as the proportion of SMEs with at least a basic level of digital maturity and the adoption of advanced technologies such as cloud computing, big data, and artificial intelligence. However, German businesses fall behind the EU average in certain areas. For instance, only 18% of businesses in Germany use e-invoices, compared to the EU average of 32%.

Digital Public Services: Germany ranks 18th in the EU for Digital Public Services, indicating an area where the country still needs improvement. Only 55% of internet users engage with e-government services, placing Germany 24th among EU nations. In terms of pre-filled forms, Germany scores 42, significantly below the EU average of 64, categorizing it among the bottom five EU countries in this respect. However, Germany's performance is similar to the EU average in digital public services aimed at businesses, scoring 80, and slightly above average for services targeted at citizens, scoring 76. Germany performs strongly in the open data sector, achieving 89%, which is notably higher than the EU average of 81%.

Innovations in Construction

The construction industry in Germany is currently experiencing a significant transformation through innovative technologies, processes, and products. The German Parliament's Office of Technology Assessment has reported that the industry needs to increase its innovation activity and willingness to meet technological and socio-political goals, especially in residential construction. (TAB, 2022)

Digitalization is a major driver of innovation in the German construction industry. Building Information Modeling (BIM) is a software-based planning and working method that integrates all necessary information for the planning, construction, and subsequent use of a building based on digital building models. BIM is now a mandatory requirement for infrastructure projects undertaken for the national government in Germany. This approach significantly enhances efficiency and productivity in the development process, but its complete implementation in the whole industry still needs time and discussion. Germany is also embracing modular construction, which is the process of building structures in a factory and assembling them on site. This method saves time and reduces costs, making housing more affordable. Modular construction is a hot trend in the industry and is expected to have a considerable impact on housing prices in the long run. (TAB, 2022)

Furthermore, German construction startups are attempting to revolutionize the industry by transforming the way buildings are designed, constructed, and managed. These startups provide innovative solutions, including last-mile logistics platforms for construction, comprehensive building material platforms, 3D visualization for buildings and systems, web-based production management platforms, and software solutions tailored to the construction industry. (EU Startup News, 2023)

In summary, the German construction industry is undergoing a significant shift towards innovation, with digitalization and modular construction playing crucial roles. The construction industry is adopting new technologies, processes, and products to meet the demands of residential construction and climate protection. With the support of innovative startups, the German construction industry can better prepare to face the challenges of the future.

3.2.5 Legal Environment

Germany's legal system is based on the civil law tradition, which derives its foundational principles from Roman law. German legal practices have significantly contributed to the codification of civil law and have extended their influence on various other jurisdictions. The sources of law in Germany consist of European Union Regulations, the German Constitution, and legislation created by the Federal Parliament and the Federal States. (Deloitte, 2022)

The following sections will analyze the legal environment by describing the specifics of construction law and the bureaucracy level in Germany.

Construction Law

The building permitting process in Germany is generally considered to be bureaucratic and complex, requiring a significant amount of documentation and compliance with building codes and safety standards. According to the World Bank (2019), the building permitting process in Germany takes an average of 126 days and the developer must go through 9 procedures.

In Germany, the oversight of public construction law is shared between the federal and state governments. Zoning law, which falls under federal jurisdiction, establishes the acceptable use of land, and ensures that a project is in harmony with its environment. In contrast, the states are responsible for overseeing building regulations law, which specifies the design and construction standards that buildings must meet. (NRW. Global Business, 2024)

For any construction, modification, change in use, or demolition of a building, it is mandatory to obtain a building permit. This permit ensures compliance with zoning laws, state-specific building regulations, and other public law provisions, including environmental, monument protection, and pollution control. The process of obtaining a building permit can be time-consuming, but fast-track options are available, although they still require compliance with all legal standards. Permits are valid for a period of one to four years, assuming construction begins within that period. (DLA Piper, 2023)

To obtain a building permit, an application must be submitted to the local building authority. This application includes a detailed project plan and supporting documents, such as a site plan, construction drawings, and building specifications. If necessary, additional documentation on heating, noise prevention, and fire protection plans is also submitted. (NRW. Global Business, 2024) Important part of the construction law is also construction contract. According to Berger (2023), the two primary bodies that govern legal relationships between parties involved in a construction contract are:

- The German Civil Code (BGB): The statutory provisions that apply to contracts for work and services are specified in Sections 631 to 650v of the German Civil Code. These provisions automatically apply to such contracts and cover a broad range of general contract law principles.
- Construction Contract Procedures Part B (VOB/B): Unlike the Civil Code, the VOB/B is not a statutory law but rather a set of general terms and conditions.
 For the VOB/B to be applicable, its inclusion must be explicitly agreed upon by the parties as part of the construction contract.

Although the Civil Code's provisions serve as the default rules for contracts, they are rarely used alone in complex building projects due to their general nature. Since 2018, the Civil Code has included specific categories for construction-related contracts, such as construction contracts, architect and engineer contracts, and developer contracts. Each category has special provisions tailored to the unique aspects of building contracts. (DLA Piper, 2023)

In summary, the legal process of development projects in Germany is very complex and time-consuming, which may be one of the reasons why the housing market is going through challenging times.

Bureaucracy Level

To better understand the actual challenges that legal processes cause, not only in the residential development process, the level of bureaucracy of the country's legal system can serve as an effective indicator.

A recent study by IfM indicates that two-thirds of companies in Germany report feeling excessively burdened by government bureaucracy, marking a 14% increase since a similar survey conducted in 2018. Despite political efforts to reduce this burden and various bureaucracy reduction laws, companies perceive these actions to be mostly ineffective in reducing bureaucratic burdens. (IfM, 2023) The German Statistical Office measures bureaucracy with administrative burden index. The index that measures the administrative burdens on businesses is based on the situation as of January 1, 2012 (2012 = 100). If the Federal Government implements legal regulations to reduce these burdens, the index will decrease. Conversely, the introduction of regulations that add new administrative burdens will cause the index to increase. In 2023, the average index from all twelve months was 97.41, indicating that there has been small progress in reducing administrative burdens since 2012. Bureaucracy remains one of the most challenging factors not only in the development process in Germany. (Destatis, 2024)

In conclusion, although Germany has taken measures to reduce bureaucracy, the Administrative Burden Index and business perceptions indicate only small improvements. Companies still feel burdened, suggesting that efforts to decrease regulatory complexity have not been effective enough. This points to a need for more impactful reforms to significantly ease the bureaucratic challenges impacting business operations and development processes.

3.2.6 Environmental Environment

Environmental considerations are becoming more important in Germany, particularly in sectors such as residential development. The following sections will analyze the environmental environment by describing environmental regulations in the country, specifically in real estate sector.

Environmental Regulations

Environmental regulations are important to the residential development sector in Germany, with a strong focus on reducing emissions, promoting sustainable practices, and protecting natural resources. The German Climate Protection Act, which was amended in 2021, sets ambitious targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The aim is to achieve greenhouse gas neutrality by 2045. The Act applies to all sectors, including traffic, industry, and construction, and assigns specific reduction targets to each sector. (Minzenmay and Herzhoff, 2023)

The Building Energy Act is another important regulation that promotes energy efficiency in buildings, in addition to the Climate Protection Act. The Buildings Energy Act consolidates several older laws into a single, comprehensive framework. This act governs the energy performance of buildings and emphasizes the use of renewable energies while maintaining energy efficiency standards. Importantly, it aims to prevent any increase in construction and renovation costs, aligning with Germany's climate action objectives and the EU's energy performance goals. By combining the Energy Conservation Act, the Energy Saving Ordinance, and the Renewable Energies Heat Act into one modern law, the Act sets clear requirements for both new and existing buildings with regard to their energy performance and the integration of renewable energy sources for heating and cooling. (Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community, 2023)

Germany is making significant progress toward sustainability through strong environmental regulations such as the Climate Protection Act and the Building Energy Act. These laws set ambitious targets for reducing emissions and promoting the use of renewable energy while maintaining affordability in construction and renovation. However, the challenge remains to effectively align these sustainability goals with the dynamic needs of the market, balancing environmental goals with economic viability. This balancing act is crucial to ensure that environmental progress does not limit market growth and development.

4 Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Project in Czech Republic and Germany

The previous chapter provided a detailed analysis of conditions on the Czech and German markets. It highlighted the strengths and weaknesses of both markets, but also pointed out a considerable number of similarities. This chapter first presents the method used for the comparison. It then compares the conditions in both markets, evaluates the results and recommends which market a new development company should enter.

4.1 Method of Comparison

Before undertaking a comparison of the two markets, it is first necessary to describe the method by which this comparison will be conducted. All the environments in both markets are divided into several sections that were defined at the beginning of the previous chapter. Each of these sections will be compared to the same section in the other market.

Since the last step of this chapter is a recommendation on which of the two markets a new development company should enter, it is important to maintain the context of a new development company throughout the comparison. This means that the main objective of the comparison is to identify which of the two sections is more suitable for a new development company and offers better conditions for success.

According to personal communication (2024) with mentioned experts, context of a new development company typically involves managing initial capital limitations and focusing on strategies that provide quick returns to support growth. These companies often prioritize for-sale projects over rental projects to mitigate financial risks and build market credibility. Limited operational capacity and access to financing also shape their early project choices as they gradually build their reputation and expand their understanding of the market and regulatory environment.

If one of the two compared sections is valued as better, it gets two points, and the worse one gets one point. As mentioned earlier, both markets have similarities, which 70

may lead to some sections being valued as equally good. When this happens, each of the sections gets one point.

After comparing the sections, the points of each section are multiplied by the weight. More important sections will be given a weight of two points and others a weight of one point.

The final step of the comparison will be to add up the points from each section for each market and, based on the results, recommend which of the two markets would be more suitable for a new residential development company.

The weights of each section are presented in the Table 12.

| Section | Weight | Section | Weight | | | |
|-------------------------------------|--------|-----------------------------|--------|--|--|--|
| Government policies on housing | 1 | Key economic indicators | 2 | | | |
| Housing regulations | 1 | Economic forecast | 2 | | | |
| Demographic trends and urbanization | 1 | Taxation | 1 | | | |
| Customer preferences and behavior | 2 | DESI index | 1 | | | |
| Market trends | 2 | Innovations in construction | 1 | | | |
| Construction law | 2 | Environmental regulations | 1 | | | |
| Bureaucratic level | 2 | _ | - | | | |

Table 12: Weights of Each Section

Source: own processing according to (Personal communication, 2024)

The weight is an important factor because the impact of each section on the residential development business is not equal. The most important sections were determined in the summary of the expert interviews at the beginning of the previous chapter. According to personal communication (2024) the most important sections of the market environments for residential development are: key economic indicators, economic forecast, construction law, bureaucracy level, market trends and consumer preferences. These sections provide the most valuable information for developers. They wax and wane at certain stages of the project and it is important to monitor, analyze and correctly estimate the direction of their development.

The next chapter provides comparison of both markets based on the abovementioned method.

4.2 Comparison of Conditions

This chapter compares the conditions for residential development in the Czech Republic and Germany across previously defined sections: government policies on housing, housing regulations, key economic indicators, economic forecasts, taxation, demographic trends and urbanization, customer preferences and behavior, market trends, the DESI index, innovations in construction, construction law, the level of bureaucracy, and environmental regulations. The objective is to determine which country offers a more favorable conditions for new developers entering the market.

4.2.1 Government Policies on Housing

Comparison and Assessment: Both countries demonstrate a strong government commitment to addressing housing challenges through comprehensive policy measures and significant financial support. However, Germany's approach appears to be more proactive and structured, with a clear target for new housing units and large investments in housing subsidies and technological integration. The Czech Republic faces more systematic challenges in social housing supply, which may affect the effectiveness of its housing policy compared to Germany's more streamlined and ambitious initiatives.

Result: Given the broader and more ambitious scope of Germany's housing initiatives, coupled with its high financial investments to support housing affordability, the country's housing policy framework is more robust and effective in the short to medium term. The Czech approach, which can be praised for its comprehensive support mechanisms, requires more structural reforms to address the problems with social housing.

Germany offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.2 Housing Regulations

Comparison and Assessment: Czech Republic and Germany have implemented strong government initiatives to regulate their housing markets, although their

approaches offer different advantages for new development companies. Germany's strict housing regulations, such as the Rent Control Act and the Building Land Mobilization Act, aim to stabilize rent prices and increase housing availability, but may limit the flexibility new companies need to adapt quickly to market changes. In contrast, the Czech Republic's more liberal regulatory environment allows for more flexibility in adjusting rents according to market dynamics, which can be beneficial for new businesses that want to respond quickly to economic changes and consumer demands. However, this flexibility can also lead to instability for tenants and market fluctuations, which the planned reforms aim to reduce.

Result: While Germany's strict and structured housing regulations are designed to stabilize the market and ensure affordability, these measures can sometimes be too restrictive, potentially impacting market dynamics. This could be a challenge for a new developer looking for flexibility and growth opportunities. On the other hand, the Czech Republic's more market-friendly regulations, despite their drawbacks in terms of tenant stability, may provide a more favorable environment for new companies. These regulations allow for greater flexibility in rent adjustments and faster response to market conditions, which could be advantageous for a new entrant looking to adapt quickly and capitalize on market opportunities. Therefore, given the need for a balance between regulatory support and market flexibility, the Czech Republic may offer a better environment for a new development company.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.3 Key Economic Indicators

Comparison and Assessment: The economic indicators of Germany and the Czech Republic show both similarities and differences that are crucial for understanding the markets. Germany, as one of Europe's largest economies, shows considerable robustness in its economic indicators, with a clear downturn during the global events of 2020, but a relatively quick recovery in some areas. The Czech economy, while smaller, has shown remarkable resilience and growth, particularly in the real estate sector, which has boomed despite global economic challenges. However, the Czech market is facing greater volatility, particularly with a dramatic rise in inflation in 2022,

which has significantly cooled the previously booming real estate market. This reflects a more volatile economic environment compared to Germany, which may bring higher risks but also potentially higher rewards for investors due to the dynamic nature of the market.

Result: Given the size and stability of the German economy and its strategic measures to address housing shortages and inflation, Germany offers a more secure environment for residential development. The Czech Republic, while offering significant real estate growth opportunities, has greater economic volatility that requires careful management and may be attractive to investors seeking dynamic market conditions. For a new company considering entry into either market, Germany offers a safer investment climate with its larger, more stable economy and proactive housing policy. In contrast, the Czech Republic offers benefits to those seeking potentially higher returns in a more volatile market environment.

Since the decision in this section about which market a new company would prefer is mainly about the characteristics of a business strategy, as this strategy can be more about slow growth and security, or mainly about taking acceptable risk for faster growth, both markets can be considered equally suitable in this section.

4.2.4 Economic Forecast

Comparison and Assessment: Both Germany and the Czech Republic forecast modest economic growth in 2024, with each country facing unique challenges that have affected their economies. Germany's growth forecast of 0.2% for 2024 indicates a very cautious approach, reflecting ongoing global uncertainties and internal economic pressures such as high construction costs and labor shortages. The slightly more optimistic forecast of 1.5% for 2025 suggests an expectation of gradual stabilization and recovery in economic conditions. In contrast, the Czech Republic has a slightly more robust economic forecast with a growth rate of 1.4% in 2024, accelerating to 2.6% in 2025. This stronger growth will be supported by a rise in domestic demand and improved international economic conditions. The Czech inflation forecast shows effective control within the Czech National Bank's target,

which is expected to stabilize at around 2.4% to 2.7%, reflecting the success of monetary and fiscal measures to control inflation pressures.

Result: Considering the context of a new company entering the market, the Czech Republic offers a more favorable economic forecast compared to Germany. The faster economic recovery and the controlled inflation environment in the Czech Republic represent potentially lower economic risks and more attractive conditions for new investments. These factors make the Czech market particularly attractive for new entrants looking for growth opportunities. In addition, the proactive fiscal and monetary policies in the Czech Republic may provide a more predictable business environment, which is crucial for strategic planning and investment decisions by new companies.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.5 Taxation

Comparison and Assessment: The tax environment in both countries has distinct characteristics that can influence the attractiveness of each market for businesses and investors. In the Czech Republic, personal income tax rates are lower, with a maximum rate of 23% for income above 48 times the average wage, and a corporate tax rate of 21%. This provides a relatively favorable tax environment for both individuals and corporations. Germany, on the other hand, has a progressive personal income tax system, with rates that can rise to 45% for top earners, coupled with a corporate tax rate that is generally around 30% when corporate income tax and trade tax are combined. This results in a significantly higher tax burden than in the Czech Republic. In addition, the German VAT of 19% is slightly lower than the Czech VAT of 21%, but this small difference may not compensate for the higher income and corporate tax rates.

Result: When considering the overall tax burden, the Czech Republic offers a more attractive tax environment for both companies and individuals due to its lower personal and corporate tax rates. This simplicity and lower tax rate make the Czech Republic potentially more attractive to new businesses seeking to maximize their after-tax income. This difference in tax burden could be a deciding factor for

companies when deciding whether to enter the Czech or German market, with the Czech market offering a more cost-effective environment.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.6 Demographic Trends and Urbanization

Comparison and Assessment: Germany and the Czech Republic face similar demographic challenges, characterized by aging populations and urbanization trends. Germany's urbanization rate is slightly higher at 77.65% compared to the Czech Republic's 74.38%, indicating a slightly more concentrated urban population. Both countries face low fertility rates, with Germany at 1.46 children per woman and the Czech Republic slightly higher at 1.62. This similarity suggests a common demographic trajectory that could affect future labor markets and economic stability due to shrinking workforces. However, Germany's demographic structure shows a higher proportion of older adults, with people aged 60 and over making up 29.5% of the population, compared to 20.4% in the Czech Republic for the same age group. This suggests that Germany may face more immediate challenges related to an ageing population, including higher demands for health care and pensions.

Result: From the perspective of a new development company considering entry into either market, the Czech Republic may offer a slightly more favorable demographic environment in the short to medium term. The slightly younger population and lower degree of urban concentration potentially provide more flexibility and opportunities for new residential development, especially in urbanizing regions outside the major cities. In addition, the slightly higher fertility rate may indicate a slower pace of demographic aging, providing a more stable future labor market. This could influence long-term strategic decisions for a developer looking for growth opportunities in residential markets.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.7 Customer Preferences and Behavior

Comparison and Assessment: The markets have distinct consumer behaviors and preferences, particularly in the real estate sector. German consumers show a strong preference for quality and sustainability, preferring properties that are energy efficient and equipped with modern technologies. This preference is in line with Germany's broader environmental goals and reflects a consumer base that is willing to invest in higher quality, potentially more expensive properties for long-term benefits. On the other hand, Czech consumers show a strong inclination towards home ownership, driven by the potential for lucrative returns. This trend is driving demand for residential real estate, with consumers taking a cautious yet pragmatic approach to real estate investment, prioritizing long-term value and financial stability.

Result: For a new development company, the Czech market's strong preference for home ownership offers a significant advantage. The trend towards buying rather than renting indicates a robust demand for residential properties, providing an opportunity for developers to launch new projects. While the German market values high quality, sustainable properties, the broader and more immediate opportunities in the Czech Republic make it an attractive choice for new entrants looking to capitalize on the high demand for home ownership.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.8 Market Trends

Comparison and Assessment: Significant urbanization and a shift towards more flexible living arrangements characterize the German and Czech markets. In Germany, the market shows a robust trend towards renting, especially in major urban areas, driven by the lifestyle flexibility desired by younger population groups and the growth of single and two-person households. The popularity of co-living and co-working spaces also indicates a shift towards more communal and adaptable living arrangements. The Czech market, on the other hand, is experiencing a strong demand for ownership, driven by urban migration and economic opportunities, which have resulted in rising real estate prices. Demand is not limited to residential

properties, but also extends to commercial real estate, driven by a growing business climate and tourism, particularly in Prague.

Result: The trends in each country reflect different demographics and business needs. In Germany, the expansion of the rental market, especially among young people and in metropolitan areas, could provide opportunities for new companies in rental investments and developments tailored to flexible living spaces. The Czech Republic, on the other hand, offers a lucrative environment for developers targeting both residential and commercial real estate due to high demand and ongoing urbanization. For a new company considering entry into these markets, the Czech Republic may offer more immediate growth potential due to its strong ownership trend and expanding commercial sector.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.9 DESI Index

Comparison and Assessment: Analyzing the Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI), Germany shows significant strengths over the Czech Republic in several key areas. Germany ranks higher in overall connectivity, high-speed broadband coverage, and significantly outperforms the Czech Republic in open data. This robust infrastructure provides a strong foundation for businesses and digital enterprises. Although Germany is close to the EU average in terms of the integration of digital technologies in businesses and digital public services, it has a slight edge over the Czech Republic in terms of infrastructure quality and availability of digital services. In contrast, while the Czech Republic has made progress, especially in digital public services, where it outperforms Germany, it still struggles with broader digital integration in businesses and has lower coverage of very high-capacity networks. Despite improvements, the Czech Republic's overall digital environment remains less developed compared to Germany's more comprehensive and mature digital ecosystem.

Result: For a new development company looking to use advanced digital technologies and infrastructure, Germany offers a more favorable environment. Germany's superior connectivity and higher overall DESI ranking indicate a more 78

supportive ecosystem for digital operations, which is critical for companies that rely on stable digital services. The Czech Republic, despite its progress in digital public services, still is behind in creating a fully integrated digital business environment, making Germany a more attractive option for companies seeking a robust digital environment.

Germany offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.10 Innovations in Construction

Comparison and Assessment: Both Germany and the Czech Republic are actively integrating innovative technologies into their construction industries, each with a different approach. In Germany, there is a strong focus on digitalization and efficiency improvements through Building Information Modeling (BIM) and modular construction. These efforts are well supported by the government and the construction sector, especially with initiatives such as mandatory BIM for public infrastructure projects. In addition, the German construction industry benefits from a vibrant startup ecosystem that brings fresh solutions. Conversely, the Czech Republic is focused on addressing fundamental challenges such labor shortages through the establishment of the National Center for Construction 4.0, which emphasizes the digitalization and sustainability of construction practices. The Czech approach includes not only the integration of BIM, but also the innovative use of blockchain for smart contracts, with the aim of modernizing construction processes and making them more efficient and environmentally friendly.

Result: While both countries show a commitment to advancing construction technology, Germany appears to have a more comprehensive and mature implementation strategy, particularly in the adoption of BIM and modular construction, which are already impacting the industry. The Czech Republic still faces significant challenges that may slow the rapid adoption and impact of these technologies. For a new company considering entering the market, Germany offers a more robust and supportive environment for adopting construction technology innovations. This makes Germany a more attractive option for companies focused on advanced construction technologies and efficient building practices.

Germany offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.11 Construction Law

Comparison and Assessment: Building permitting processes in both Germany and the Czech Republic are lengthy and bureaucratic, posing challenges for developers. In Germany, the average process takes approximately 126 days with 9 procedures, while in the Czech Republic it's notably longer at 246 days with 21 procedures. Germany, however, has a more streamlined legal framework for construction that clearly defines responsibilities and requirements for zoning and building standards. The Czech Republic's system has been criticized for its inefficiency and the excessive time required to navigate the permitting process. This has been a significant obstacle to development, prompting the introduction of a new Building Act aimed at simplifying and speeding up the process. The new law represents a significant revision that aims to reduce procedural delays through digitization and unified procedures, although it faces criticism regarding its preparation and the clarity of its implementing regulations.

Result: While both countries face challenges with bureaucratic permitting processes, Germany's more established and organized framework may provide a more predictable, but still complex, environment for developers. The Czech Republic's recent legislative changes could potentially improve its permitting process, making it more attractive in the long run if the new system effectively reduces procedural burdens. However, given the current state and transitional issues, Germany still holds the edge for developers seeking a more stable regulatory environment.

Germany offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.12 Bureaucracy Level

Comparison and Assessment: Both Germany and the Czech Republic have recognized the significant challenges that bureaucratic systems pose to businesses, particularly in the context of residential development and broader business

operations. Germany's Bureaucratic Index suggests some reform efforts, with a slight reduction in administrative burdens since 2012, although businesses still feel the impact of excessive bureaucracy. In contrast, in the Czech Republic, despite government initiatives aimed at reducing bureaucracy through digital transformation and specific legislative adjustments, the actual impact on reducing bureaucratic time has been insufficient. Businesses still spend a significant amount of time dealing with paperwork, indicating that the measures have not been effectively implemented or have not gone far enough to reduce administrative burdens.

Result: Considering the level of bureaucracy and the effectiveness of government efforts to mitigate these challenges, it appears that both countries still face significant challenges. However, Germany's slightly better Index performance may indicate a more structured approach to reducing bureaucracy, although businesses still feel burdened. In contrast, the Czech Republic, despite numerous initiatives, has made less progress in making it easier to do business, suggesting the need for more impactful reforms. This makes Germany a more favorable environment in terms of dealing with bureaucracy for businesses, especially new entrants to the housing market who require more efficiency in administrative processes.

Germany offers better conditions in this section.

4.2.13 Environmental Regulations

Comparison and Assessment: Germany and the Czech Republic show a strong commitment to environmental sustainability in the housing sector through comprehensive environmental legislation. Germany's approach is highly structured, supported by laws such as the Climate Protection Act and the Building Energy Act, which set clear and ambitious targets for emissions reduction and energy efficiency. These laws aim to achieve greenhouse gas neutrality by 2045 and to integrate renewable energy sources extensively into building standards. The Czech Republic is focusing on aligning new and existing environmental regulations with market needs, such as the State Environmental Policy 2030 and the new Building Act. These measures aim to integrate environmental considerations more smoothly into the planning and development phases, emphasizing sustainability without limiting market

dynamism. The introduction of the Unified Environmental Assessment under the new Building Act illustrates a rational approach to incorporating environmental standards into real estate projects.

Result: Germany's environmental regulations are robust and aim for significant longterm impacts but may present challenges in terms of market flexibility and cost implications for developers. The Czech Republic's approach, while potentially less ambitious in terms of immediate environmental impact, offers a more balanced approach that can be more attractive to new businesses seeking an environment where the regulatory framework is designed to support both environmental sustainability and market growth. This flexibility and integration of environmental goals with economic viability provides a more conducive environment for new residential development company.

Czech Republic offers better conditions in this section.

4.3 Evaluation and Recommendation

This chapter presents an evaluation and recommendation based on a comparative analysis of the Czech and German markets. Using a previously defined systematic approach, the sections of each market are evaluated and weighted in the table to assess their overall suitability for a new development company.

The Table 13 presents the results of the comparison, after assigning each of the two markets' section points and calculating the weights according to the previously defined method.

| Section | DE | CZ | Weight | DE | CZ |
|-------------------------------------|----|----|--------|----|----|
| Government policies on housing | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 | 1 |
| Housing regulations | 1 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 |
| Key economic indicators | 1 | 1 | 2 | 2 | 2 |
| Economic forecast | 1 | 2 | 2 | 2 | 4 |
| Taxation | 1 | 2 | 1 | 2 | 4 |
| Demographic trends and urbanization | 1 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 |
| Customer preferences and behavior | 1 | 2 | 2 | 2 | 4 |
| Market trends | 1 | 2 | 2 | 2 | 4 |
| DESI index | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 | 1 |
| Innovations in construction | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 | 1 |
| Construction law | 2 | 1 | 2 | 4 | 2 |
| Bureaucracy level | 2 | 1 | 2 | 4 | 2 |
| Environmental regulations | 1 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 2 |
| Total | 18 | 20 | - | 27 | 31 |

Table 13: Evaluation of Comparison

Source: own processing

Based on the evaluation presented in Table 13, the Czech Republic scored four points more than Germany, with Germany scoring a total of 27 points and the Czech Republic scoring 31 points. From the analysis it is obvious that both markets have their strengths and weaknesses, and each market offers different opportunities. As Germany is a larger and stronger economy and has a deeply rooted and well-organized legal framework, reflecting a strong cultural commitment to systematic and robust legal processes, it offers more security. Thanks to its drive for technological progress, it can offer more potentially cost-effective innovations and processes, especially in the construction sector. On the other hand, the Czech Republic has a very dynamic real estate market with higher growth potential and a significant preference for owning rather than renting. It offers a more business-friendly environment with a lower tax burden and less strict regulations.

To conclude, in the context of a new development company, the Czech Republic offers better overall conditions with faster capitalization, a more dynamic market and a strong culture of real estate ownership and investment. While the market itself benefits from a less regulated environment, which helps business flexibility, it's important to note that this does not extend to the permitting process and legal structure for construction, which are particularly challenging in the country.

However, it is essential to keep in mind that success is never granted, especially in a business as complex as residential development. The success is highly dependent on the right management of all phases of the development process and the right evaluation and allocation of all variables, such as human capital, costs, financing, design and the all-important marketing and sales.

If all the above-mentioned conditions are successfully met, the Czech market can be recommended as more suitable for the new development company.

Since in the introduction it was mentioned that this thesis can potentially serve as a guide for new companies in the field of residential development, the last chapter will provide a model of phases for managing residential development project.

5 Model of Phases for Managing Residential Development Project

This chapter describes the model of phases for managing a residential development project. The model is based on the literature review and insights from expert interviews, which are summarized at the beginning of the third chapter of this thesis.

The Table 14 presents the model and its phases. These phases are described in more detail in the following chapters.

| Phase number | Phase title | |
|--------------|-----------------------------|---------------------|
| 1. | Idea and concept creation | |
| 2. | Analysis of feasibility | |
| 3. | Site purchase | |
| 4. | Designing, cost calculation | Marketing and sales |
| 5. | Permitting process | |
| 6. | Construction | |
| 7. | Management and disposal | |

Table 14: The Model of Phases for Managing Residential Development Project

Source: own processing according to (Personal communication, 2024)

Before describing each phase of the model, it is important to explain its structure. As presented in the Table 14, there are seven phases and Marketing and Sales, which is located next to all the other phases. As found out during the expert interviews, Marketing and Sales is a phase, or rather a process, that is crucial for all the other phases, especially until the start of the Construction phase. That is why it stands out in the table and accompanies all the other phases.

Finally, before describing each phase, it is important to point out that, in practice, the phases presented in the model may vary and overlap, depending on the specifics of each project.

The following chapters describe each phase of the project, highlighting the most important facts and processes, starting with a description of marketing and sales and its importance for the overall success of the project.

5.1 Marketing and Sales

The timing of marketing and sales initiatives is crucial in the life cycle of a development project. It is recommended to phase the marketing and sales process according to the development progress of the project. For example, before obtaining the building permit, it is effective to promote pre-sales, offer introductory prices and attract clients with reservation contracts that require only a small fee (e.g. 50,000 CZK/ 2,000 EUR). These contracts are usually flexible, which primarily benefits the client, allowing him to secure favorable conditions with minimal commitment. This approach not only motivates clients to enter into agreements, but also provides developers with a real-time gauge of market interest. If circumstances change, reservations can be returned, maintaining good customer relations for future interactions. Once official building permits are obtained, marketing should be fully prepared to actively pursue sales. At this point, it is possible to accelerate the entire sales process and begin collecting deposits from clients that would be difficult to secure without the permits. The marketing strategy should clearly communicate that prices may increase once building permits are issued, depending on market conditions, which may motivate customers to pre-sale. This strategy should be maintained until the desired level of pre-sales is achieved.

5.2 Idea and Concept Creation

The first phase of residential development, idea and concept creation, is fundamental and is driven by the developer's ability to use creative and imaginative thinking. This stage involves visualizing potential projects that improve or go beyond existing reality, which is an essential skill to start any development. It is mainly about generating ideas, estimating initial market response, and identifying suitable development sites. The ability to provide unique insights and preliminary conclusions from available information sets successful developers apart and improves their ability to respond to emerging market needs. (Ratcliffe et al., 2021)

Techniques such as brainstorming, nominal group technique, and the Delphi method are structured approaches that can help in the idea creation process. Brainstorming allows for a free flow of ideas, prioritizing quantity and creativity, which are later 86 reviewed to find valid options. The nominal group technique focuses on achieving team consensus on the best strategies and ideas, while the Delphi method leverages expert opinion to forecast market dynamics, which is key to strategic decision-making. In addition, risk management is also important from the start, with a focus on self-awareness, effective coordination, and monitoring of financial cycles. (Miles et al., 2015)

5.3 Analysis of Feasibility

The Analysis of Feasibility phase establishes the viability of a residential development project through a detailed, structured evaluation that informs and influences all subsequent phases. This phase is not only essential for validating the project's financial and operational assumptions, but also serves as a critical risk management tool. It should include a comprehensive set of analyses, such as an executive summary, market analysis, revenue projections, preliminary designs, geographic maps, cost projections, financing details, regulatory considerations, and an overall value estimation. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

The core of the feasibility analysis is the market analysis, which includes a deep investigation of current and projected market conditions that directly affect the success of the project. This analysis begins with a broad review of national economic conditions and narrows down to specific regional and local market dynamics, including competitive environment assessments and consumer demand forecasts. Each component, from financial projections to site-specific evaluations, contributes to a complete view of the project's viability, ensuring that the development is not only theoretically feasible, but also practically viable in current and future market scenarios. (Miles et al., 2015)

5.4 Site Purchase

Once the analysis of feasibility confirms the potential success of a development, the careful preparation of the site purchase begins. Before purchasing a property, a detailed legal review is important. Developers must investigate property ownership

and identify any liens or other issues that could be transferred to the new owner by mistake, potentially delaying the project. These legal complications could prolong the transfer of ownership, impacting the project's timeline and financial results. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

A comprehensive physical inspection of the site is also necessary to assess the suitability of the land for the intended development. This includes evaluating structural capabilities, accessibility, natural draining, and the availability of existing infrastructure. Identifying differences between current service levels and those required for development is essential, and the associated costs must be included in the development budget. In addition, the financing of the purchase is a significant factor, and securing favorable loan terms that reflect the best terms available at the time is key. Financing typically varies between short-term loans for immediate development costs and long-term financing for post-completion phases, depending on the assessed risk of the project, financial market conditions, and the credibility and track record of the developer. (Miles et al., 2015)

5.5 Designing, Cost Calculation

The designing and cost calculation phase involves making important decisions about the design of the project and ensuring that all elements are in line with the overall objectives of the development. Preliminary detailed drawings are prepared for zoning approvals and budget projections, requiring close attention to ensure accuracy and compliance with local regulations. (Ratcliffe et al., 2021)

After preliminary drawings and studies, detailed plans must be prepared. These plans are continually refined as more information becomes available and project specifics are finalized. The process includes evaluating the physical characteristics of the site, assessing potential risks, and ensuring that the design is feasible within the project's financial framework. Part of ensuring feasibility is a costing process where initial cost estimates are continually updated to reflect any changes or refinements in the design. This dynamic costing is important to maintain alignment with the project's budget. Changes to the design may be necessary at any stage, requiring flexibility and effective coordination among the development team to make adjustments without significant impact. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

5.6 Permitting Process

Getting permission is key when developing a new property, especially if the property requires a change of use from its previous classification. At this phase, developers must work with the local building authority to secure the necessary approvals, often starting with outline planning permission. This preliminary approval determines the intended use of the property and the acceptable size or density of the development but does not allow construction to begin. Developers must provide enough information to describe the type, size, and form of the intended project. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

Throughout the building permitting process, given the challenges presented by, for example, the Czech regulatory framework, it is important to be prepared for a rigorous and potentially time-consuming procedure. This requires a strategic approach involving experienced consultants and a detailed understanding of local regulations to effectively manage this phase and minimize potential setbacks.

This phase may also involve negotiating planning agreements with the local authority, which can include additional obligations and costs, such as contributions to local infrastructure improvements. These agreements, if required, must be completed before building permits are issued and can have a significant impact on the overall cost and viability of the project. Developers must also secure other legal approvals, such as those related to heritage sites or infrastructure adaptations, to ensure that all legal requirements are met before proceeding with the development. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

5.7 Construction

During the construction phase, the developer faces the culmination of commitment in terms of finances, resources, and reputation. With contracts signed and construction underway, it is difficult to stop or significantly change the project without serious

financial consequences. Managing time, quality, and budget becomes essential as the developer transitions into a project management role. (Miles et al., 2015)

Throughout this phase, no quality-related compromises are acceptable, and shortcuts to save time or expense are not an option. The developer must ensure that the project stays on schedule and on budget, with some flexibility for unforeseen issues such as material delays or changing weather conditions. Effective project management often involves hiring a project manager to coordinate the design and construction process, especially for complex developments. This manager, along with the developer, must anticipate potential problems and make informed decisions in a timely manner to minimize delays and additional costs. Their experience and knowledge play a dominant role in overcoming challenges. In addition, it is important to continually monitor the real estate market during construction to ensure that the development remains in line with market needs. This may involve adjusting project specifications to reflect changing market conditions. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

5.8 Management and Disposal

The final phase, which is the key to realizing the financial viability of the project, involves securing tenants or buyers early in the process. Developers typically attempt to secure tenants/buyers before or shortly after construction begins, as financial institutions often require a significant percentage of the development to be pre-sold before releasing funds. Successful sales are built into the development plan from the beginning and adjusted throughout the life of the project. Decisions on when to sell are based on factors such as market conditions and stakeholder influences. If tenants or buyers are not secured by project completion, developers face financial risks from ongoing holding costs and potential reputational damage. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

After completion, developers often continue to work with occupants to address any operational issues, thereby enhancing their reputation. Early involvement of real estate professionals can help align the design with market expectations and ensure that the property effectively meets the needs of potential buyers. (Reed and Sims, 2015)

This phase underscores the importance of strategic planning, market alignment, and ongoing stakeholder engagement to ensure the long-term success and profitability of the development project.

The above-described model of phases for managing a residential development project uses the theoretical review as a base and is edited according to the insights from expert interviews by adding the marketing and sales phase, which is crucial in practice and accompanies all the other phases. The model can serve as a roadmap for navigating the business of a new residential development company and is applicable to both the Czech and German markets.

Conclusion

The main goal of this diploma thesis Comparison of Conditions for Managing Residential Development Projects in the Czech Republic and Germany was to analyze and compare the conditions for managing residential development projects in the Czech Republic and Germany and based on evaluation of the comparison, to provide a recommendation on which of the two markets a new company should enter in the field of residential development. Based on the literature review and expert interviews, the subsequent goal was to create a model of phases for managing residential development project.

In the first, theoretical part of this thesis, the residential development project was defined, and its specifics were explained. It was further described how three different authors define and describe the phases of residential development projects. In the final part of the theoretical review, an important analysis tool for analyzing conditions in Czech and German markets, the PESTLE analysis, was described.

The analytical part opened with a summary of the insights from expert interviews with two experts experienced in residential development. Based on the insights from expert interviews, the PESTLE analysis structure was modified by including sections for each of the PESTLE environments to provide relevant data for residential development and housing.

The analytical part continued with the analysis of following sections: government policies on housing, housing regulations, key economic indicators, economic forecast, taxation, demographic trends and urbanization, customer preferences and behavior, market trends, DESI index, innovations in construction, construction law, bureaucracy level and environmental regulations. These sections were analyzed for both the Czech and German markets.

After the analysis of each section, the results were compared and evaluated according to the method described at the beginning of the chapter on comparison. For the comparison, the context of the new residential development company was important, as each section from one market was compared with the same section from the other market, resulting in two points being assigned to the country that

offered better conditions in specific section, and one point being assigned to the country that offered worse conditions in the same section. If the conditions were similar, both countries received one point. Since, according to the insights of the expert interviews, some of the sections are more influential and important for residential development, all sections were weighted, with more important sections receiving a weight of two points and less important sections receiving a weight of one point. The points that each country received in each of the sections were then multiplied by the weights. The final step in the evaluation was to add up all the points from each country.

Based on the results of the comparison and its evaluation, the Czech Republic scored 31 points compared to 27 points of Germany. This led to the recommendation that for new company in residential development, the Czech Republic offers slightly better conditions than Germany.

During the analysis and the comparison, it was found out that Germany offers more security due to its strong and larger economy and robust legal framework with a strong cultural commitment to well organized legal processes. Due to its drive for technological progress, Germany can also offer more potentially cost-effective innovations and processes in the construction sector. The Czech Republic, in contrast, offers a very dynamic real estate market with higher growth potential and a significant preference of its population to own, rather than rent. It also offers a more business-friendly environment with a lower tax burden and generally less strict environmental and housing regulations. In the context of the new development company, which, according to insights from expert interviews, is managing initial capital limitations and focusing on strategies that provide faster returns to support growth and prioritizing for-sale projects over rental projects to mitigate financial risks and build market credibility, the Czech Republic offers better conditions for this type of company and for starting its business.

In the last chapter of the diploma thesis, the model of phases was created, based on literature review and insights from expert interviews. The model used the theoretical findings as a basis and was edited by adding the importance of marketing and sales strategies as a phase, or better a process, that accompanies all the other phases, as it is the main factor in shaping the financial viability and smooth progress of the projects. The model can guide the operations of a new residential development company and is relevant to both the Czech and German markets.

In conclusion, it is important to note, that success is never a given, especially in the complex business of residential development, where the developer is exposed to a wide range of factors and must manage them all effectively. Success is highly dependent on the right management of all the phases of residential development described in the model, and the right evaluation and allocation of all variables such as human capital, costs, financing, design and the all-important marketing and sales.

List of References

- AMASON, Allen C. and Andrew J. WARD, 2021. *Strategic management: from theory to practice*. Second edition. New York London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. ISBN 978-0-367-43006-1.
- BAKER MCKENZIE, 2024. Planning and Environmental Issues | Czech Republic | Global Corporate Real Estate Guide | Baker McKenzie Resource Hub. Website. Available from: <u>https://resourcehub.bakermckenzie.com/en/resources/globalcorporate-real-estate-guide/europe-middle-east-and-africa/czechrepublic/topics/planning-and-environmental-issues</u>. [viewed 2024-03-02].
- BERGER, Andreas, 2023. International Comparative Legal Guides. online. In: International Comparative Legal Guides International Business Reports. Available from: <u>https://iclg.com/practice-areas/construction-and-engineering-law-laws-and-regulations/germany</u>. [viewed 2024-04-11].
- BLAŽEK, Kamil, 2022. *Legal Environment*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.czechbusinessguide.com/content-of-book-the-czech-</u> <u>republic-legal-environment/</u>. [viewed 2024-03-04].
- BUSINESSINFO.CZ, 2021. Krize jako příležitost pro stavebnictví? 7 technologických trendů, které se letos vyplatí sledovat. online. In: *BusinessInfo.cz*. Available from: <u>https://www.businessinfo.cz/clanky/krize-jako-prilezitost-pro-stavebnictvi-7-technologickych-trendu-ktere-se-letos-vyplati-sledovat/</u>. [viewed 2024-02-25].
- CADLE, James; Debra PAUL and Paul TURNER, 2014. *Business analysis techniques:* 99 essential tools for success. Second edition. Swindon, UK: BCS, The Chartered Institute for IT. ISBN 978-1-78017-273-6.
- ČBA MONITOR, 2024. *Průměrná úroková sazba nových hypoték* | ČBA MONITOR. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.cbamonitor.cz</u>. [viewed 2024-02-15].
- ČNB, 2024. Inflace zpět u 2% cíle Česká národní banka. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.cnb.cz/cs/menova-politika/inflacni-cil/tema-</u> inflace/index.html. [viewed 2024-03-02].

- CONNY, Conny, 2019. *Mietpreisbremse How rent control in Germany works*. Website. Available from: <u>https://conny.de/en/rent/rent-control/information</u>. [viewed 2024-04-06].
- DELOITTE, 2022. *Doing Business in...* | *Deloitte Legal*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.deloitte.com/global/en/services/legal/analysis/doing-business.html</u>. [viewed 2024-03-28].
- DESTATIS, 2024. Administrative burden index. online. In: *Federal Statistical Office*. Available from: <u>https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Government/Bureaucracy-</u> <u>Costs/administrative-burden-index/administrative-burden-index.html</u>. [viewed 2024-03-28].
- DEUTSCHLAND.DE, 2021. *Germany* | *Plans of the new government*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.deutschland.de/en/topic/politics/germany-plans-of-the-new-government</u>. [viewed 2024-03-12].
- DLA PIPER, 2023. General construction law in Germany DLA Piper REALWORLD. Website. from: <u>https://www.dlapiperrealworld.com/law/index.html?t=construction&s=le</u> gal-framework&q=general-construction-law&c=DE. [viewed 2024-03-22].
- DOLEŽAL, Jan, 2016. Projektový management: komplexně, prakticky a podle světových standardů. První vydání. Praha: Grada Publishing. ISBN 978-80-247-5620-2.
- ELTER, Constanze, 2024. *Taxation in Germany: income tax in a nutshell*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.deutschland.de/en/topic/business/taxation-in-germany-income-tax-in-a-nutshell</u>. [viewed 2024-03-18].
- EU STARTUP NEWS, 2023. Building the Future: 15 Innovative Construction Startups in Germany | EU Startup News. Website. Available from: <u>https://eustartup.news/building-the-future-15-innovative-constructionstartups-in-germany/</u>. [viewed 2024-03-22].
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2023a. *Germany in the Digital Economy and Society Index Shaping Europe's digital future*. Website. Available from: <u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/desi-germany</u>. [viewed 2024-03-24].

EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2023b. Population: demographic situation, languages and religions. Website. Available from: <u>https://eurydice.eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-education-</u> systems/czechia/population-demographic-situation-languages-and-religions. [viewed 2024-02-24].

EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2023c. *The Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) Shaping Europe's digital future*. Website. Available from: <u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/en/policies/desi</u>. [viewed 2024-02-18].

EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2024. Population: demographic situation, languages and religions. Website. Available from: <u>https://eurydice.eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-education-</u> systems/germany/population-demographic-situation-languages-and-religions. [viewed 2024-03-11].

EUROPEAN UNION, 2024a. *Czechia – EU country profile | European Union*. Website. Available from: <u>https://european-union.europa.eu/principles-countries-</u> <u>history/eu-countries/czechia_en</u>. [viewed 2024-01-25].

EUROPEAN UNION, 2024b. *Germany – EU country profile | European Union*. Website. Available from: <u>https://european-union.europa.eu/principles-countries-history/eu-countries/germany_en</u>. [viewed 2024-03-06].

EVROPSKÁ KOMISE, 2023. Česká republika v indexu digitální ekonomiky a společnosti | Shaping Europe's digital future. Website. Available from: <u>https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/cs/policies/desi-czech-republic</u>. [viewed 2024-03-07].

EXPATS.CZ, 2023. ASK AN EXPERT: Can a landlord legally increase your rent in Czechia due to inflation? online. In: *Expats.cz*. Available from: <u>https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/ask-an-expert-can-my-</u> <u>landlord-legally-increase-the-rent</u>. [viewed 2024-02-20].

FACTS ABOUT GERMANY, 2024. *Home* | *Facts about Germany*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.tatsachen-ueber-deutschland.de/en</u>. [viewed 2024-03-06].

FEDERAL MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR AND COMMUNITY, 2023a. Social housing assistance. online. In: *Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community*. Available from: <u>https://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/topics/building-housing/city-</u>

housing/home-ownership-housing-assistance/social-housing/social-housingartikel.html;jsessionid=19359382C88181227CEA3F4FBE1839F2.live892?nn=14 <u>116102</u>. [viewed 2024-03-27].

- FEDERAL MINISTRY OF THE INTERIOR AND COMMUNITY, 2023b. The new Buildings Energy Act. online. In: *Federal Ministry of the Interior and Community*. Available from: <u>https://www.bmi.bund.de/EN/topics/building-housing/building/energy-</u> <u>efficient-construction-renovation/buildings-energy-act/buildings-energy-act-</u> <u>article.html;jsessionid=7939B7B8D5B82A16B4E53229D8A7DCBC.live891?nn=</u> 13031114. [viewed 2024-03-18].
- GLUNZ, Andreas, 2024. Economic Key Facts Germany KPMG Germany. online. In: *KPMG*. Available from: <u>https://kpmg.com/de/en/home/insights/overview/economic-key-facts-</u> <u>germany.html</u>. [viewed 2024-04-08].
- GOVERNMENT OF THE CZECH REPUBLIC, 2024. *Members of the Government fovernment of the Czech Republic*. Website. Available from: <u>https://vlada.gov.cz/en/vlada/</u>. [viewed 2024-01-20].
- HAYES, Adam, 2024. What Is a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) and Why CompaniesFormThem.online.In:Investopedia.Availablefrom:https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/spv.asp. [viewed 2024-01-25].
- HEJNÁ, Veronika, 2021. Nový stavební zákon 1. díl: Jak bude probíhat stavební řízení? online. In: *Hypoindex.cz*. Available from: <u>https://www.hypoindex.cz/clanky/novy-stavebni-zakon-1-dil-jak-bude-probihat-stavebni-rizeni/</u>. [viewed 2024-02-25].
- HILL, Charles W. L.; Melissa A. SCHILLING and Gareth R. JONES, 2020. *Strategic management: an integrated approach: theory & cases*. 13e ed. Boston, MA: Cengage. ISBN 978-0-357-03384-5.
- HYPOINDEX.CZ, 2022. Evropský průzkum: Češi bydlí a chtějí bydlet ve vlastním.online.In:Hypoindex.cz.Availablefrom: https://www.hypoindex.cz/clanky/pruzkum-cesi-bydli-a-chteji-bydlet-ve-vlastnim/. [viewed 2024-03-05].
- IFM, 2023. INSM study: Bureaucracy is becoming a brake on growth / 58 per cent of companies want to invest less due to bureaucracy. Website. Available

from: <u>https://www.ifm-bonn.org/en/news/meldung/insm-study-bureaucracy-is-becoming-a-brake-on-growth-58-per-cent-of-companies-want-to-invest-less-due-to-bureaucracy</u>. [viewed 2024-03-26].

- IFO INSTITUTE, 2024. *ifo Economic Forecast Spring 2024: German Economy Paralyzed* | *Facts* | *ifo Institute*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.ifo.de/en/facts/2024-03-06/ifo-economic-forecast-spring-</u> <u>2024-german-economy-paralyzed</u>. [viewed 2024-03-12].
- INTERNATIONAL TRADE ADMINISTRATION, 2023. Czech Republic Market Overview. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.trade.gov/country-</u> <u>commercial-guides/czech-republic-market-overview</u>. [viewed 2024-02-15].
- ISAAC, David; John O'LEARY and Mark DALEY, 2016. *Property development: appraisal and finance*. 3rd edition. London: Palgrave Macmillan. ISBN 978-1-137-43246-9.
- KERZNER, Harold, 2022. *Project management: a systems approach to planning, scheduling, and controlling.* Thirteenth edition. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley. ISBN 978-1-119-80538-0.
- KNIGHT, Ben, 2023. Ukraine war, inflation accelerate Germany's housing crisis DW
 01/26/2023. online. In: dw.com. Available
 from: <u>https://www.dw.com/en/ukraine-war-inflation-accelerate-germanys-housing-crisis/a-64526527</u>. [viewed 2024-03-16].
- KONCEPCE BIM, 2022. Koncepce zavádění metody BIM do veřejné správy -Koncepce BIM. online. In: https://www.koncepcebim.cz/. Available from: <u>https://www.koncepcebim.cz/koncepce-bim/koncepce-zavadeni-</u> <u>metody-bim-v-cr/.</u> [viewed 2024-02-17].
- KOTLER, Philip; Kevin Lane KELLER; Tomáš. JUPPA and Martin MACHEK, 2013. *Marketing management*. [4. vyd.]. Praha: Grada. ISBN 978-80-247-4150-5.
- KUK, Michal, 2022. Jak probíhá územní řízení? | Frank Bold. Website. Available from: <u>https://frankbold.org/poradna/stavebni-a-uzemni-rizeni/stavebni-auzemni-rizeni/uzemni-rizeni/rada/jak-probiha-uzemni-rizeni</u>. [viewed 2024-03-03].
- KUZMOVÁ, Eva, 2023. Jak nabývá účinnosti nový stavební zákon aneb odkdy a čím se v v příštím roce 2024 budeme řídit? | Z+i. Website. Available 99

from: <u>https://zpravy.ckait.cz/vydani/2023-05/jak-nabyva-ucinnosti-novy-</u> <u>stavebni-zakon-aneb-odkdy-a-cim-se-v-v-pristim-roce-2024-budeme-ridit/</u>. [viewed 2024-02-26].

- LIBERÁLNÍ INSTITUT, 2021. Nutná doba papírování v českých firmách meziročně vzrostla o 49 hodin. online. In: *Liberální institut*. Available from: <u>https://libinst.cz/nutna-doba-papirovani-v-ceskych-firmach-mezirocne-vzrostla-o-49-hodin/</u>. [viewed 2024-02-24].
- MARMOL, Thomas del and Brigitte FEYS, 2015. *PESTLE analysis*. . ISBN 978-2-8062-6837-2.
- MFČR, 2021. Taxes. online. In: *Ministry of Finance CR*. Available from: <u>https://app-mfcr1.azurewebsites.net/en/regulation-and-taxes/taxes</u>. [viewed 2024-01-27].
- MFČR, 2024. Macroeconomic Forecast January 2024. online. In: *Ministry of Finance CR*. Available from: <u>https://app-mfcr1.azurewebsites.net/en/fiscal-</u> <u>policy/macroeconomic-analysis/macroeconomic-</u> <u>forecast/2024/macroeconomic-forecast-january-2024-54596</u>. [viewed 2024-05-04].
- MILES, Mike E.; Laurence M. NETHERTON and Adrienne SCHMITZ (ed.), 2015. *Real* estate development: principles and process. Fifth edition. Washington, DC: Urban Land Institute. ISBN 978-0-87420-343-1.
- MINISTERSTVO FINANCÍ ČR, 2024. Dubnová predikce MF: Česká ekonomika se vrací k růstu. online. In: *Ministerstvo financí ČR*. Available from: <u>https://appmfcr1.azurewebsites.net/cs/ministerstvo/media/tiskove-</u> <u>zpravy/2024/dubnova-predikce-mf-ceska-ekonomika-55476</u>. [viewed 2024-04-14].
- MINZENMAY, Stefanie and Ann Marget HERZHOFF, 2023. International Comparative Legal Guides. online. In: *International Comparative Legal Guides International Business Reports*. Available from: <u>https://iclg.com/practice-areas/real-estatelaws-and-regulations/germany</u>. [viewed 2024-03-28].
- MMR, 2024a. Ministerstvo pro místní rozvoj ČR Bytová politika. Website. Available from: <u>https://mmr.gov.cz/cs/ministerstvo/bytova-politika</u>. [viewed 2024-02-16].

- MMR, 2024b. Ministerstvo pro místní rozvoj ČR MMR poskytne téměř dvě miliardy korun na sociální byty. Díky novým podmínkám bude podpora pro žadate.
 Website. Available from: <u>https://mmr.gov.cz/cs/ostatni/web/novinky/mmr-poskytne-temer-dve-miliardy-korun-na-socialni</u>. [viewed 2024-03-03].
- MMR, 2024c. Ministerstvo pro místní rozvoj ČR Nový stavební zákon. Website. Available from: <u>https://mmr.gov.cz/cs/ministerstvo/stavebni-pravo/pravo-a-legislativa/novy-stavebni-zakon</u>. [viewed 2024-03-06].
- MORR & CO, 2022. Special Vehicle Purchase (SPV) Company & Property Developers. online. In: *Morrlaw*. Available from: <u>https://www.morrlaw.com/article/property-</u> <u>developers-and-the-spv-company/</u>. [viewed 2024-01-20].
- MPO, 2019. ČR si polepšila v Indexu byrokracie oproti minulému roku | MPO. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.mpo.gov.cz/cz/podnikani/regulace-podnikani-a-snizovani-administrativni-zateze/cr-si-polepsila-v-indexu-byrokracie-oproti-minulemu-roku--249320/</u>. [viewed 2024-02-15].
- MPO, 2023. Národní centrum Stavebnictví 4.0 má za sebou první rok fungování | MPO. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.mpo.gov.cz/cz/stavebnictvi-a-suroviny/stavebnictvi-40/narodni-centrum-stavebnictvi-4-0-ma-za-sebou-prvni-rok-fungovani-272539/. [viewed 2024-01-21].</u>
- MZP, 2021. Ministerstvo životního prostředí. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.mzp.czen/state_environmental_policy</u>. [viewed 2024-03-07].
- NRW. GLOBAL BUSINESS, 2024. *Planning and Building | NRW.GLOBAL Business*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.nrwglobalbusiness.com/investing-in-nrw/how-to-do-business-in-nrw/legal-framework/planning-and-building</u>. [viewed 2024-03-26].
- OECD, 2021. Housing Affordability in Cities in the Czech Republic. online. OECD Urban Studies. OECD. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/bcddcf4a-en</u>.
- OLSSON, Nils O.E.; Anette Østbø SØRENSEN and Gunnar LEIKVAM, 2015. On the Need for Iterative Real Estate Project Models – Applying Agile Methods in Real Estate Developments. online. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, vol. 21, pp. 524–531. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(15)00208-7</u>.

- ORT, Petr, 2019. Analýza realitního trhu. Vydání první. Praha: Leges. ISBN 978-80-7502-364-3.
- PECA, Stephen P., 2009. *Real estate development and investment: a comprehensive approach*. Wiley finance. Hoboken, N.J: Wiley. ISBN 978-0-470-22308-6.
- PEISER, Richard B. and David HAMILTON, 2012. Professional real estate development: the ULI guide to the business. 3. ed. Lancaster: Gazelle [distributor]. ISBN 978-0-87420-163-5.

PERERA, Rashain, 2018. The Pestle Analysis. . ISBN 978-1-79084-532-3.

- PWC, 2021. Rent cap and regulation of the real estate market. online. In: *PwC*. Available from: <u>https://www.pwc.de/en/real-estate/rent-cap-and-regulation-of-the-real-estate-market.html</u>. [viewed 2024-03-13].
- PWC, 2023. *Germany Overview*. Website. Available from: <u>https://taxsummaries.pwc.com/germany</u>. [viewed 2024-03-19].
- PWC, 2024. *Czech Republic Overview*. Website. Available from: <u>https://taxsummaries.pwc.com/czech-republic</u>. [viewed 2024-02-10].
- RATCLIFFE, John; Michael STUBBS and Miles KEEPING, 2021. Urban planning and real estate development. 4th Edition. The natural and built environment series. New York London: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group. ISBN 978-0-367-02572-4.
- REED, Richard and Sally SIMS, 2015. *Property development*. 6th Edition. Abingdon, Oxon; New York: Routledge. ISBN 978-0-415-82517-7.

ŘEŽÁB, Jan, 2024. Komentář: Nový stavební zákon. Velké naděje, ale tristní realita Seznam Zprávy. Website. Available
 from: <u>https://www.seznamzpravy.cz/clanek/ekonomika-ocima-byznysu-</u>
 <u>komentar-novy-stavebni-zakon-velke-nadeje-ale-tristni-realita-244450</u>.
 [viewed 2024-03-03].

SANTANDERTRADE.COM, 2024. Reaching the German consumer -Santandertrade.com. Website. Available from: https://santandertrade.com/en/portal/analysemarkets/germany/reaching-the-consumers. [viewed 2024-03-27].

- SMITH, Thomas, 2023. *Czechia among most difficult countries to start a new life as an expat*. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.expats.cz/czech-news/article/czechia-ranked-as-one-of-the-hardest-countries-for-expats-to-start-a-new-life-in</u>. [viewed 2024-02-24].
- SQUIRES, Graham and E. HEURKENS (ed.), 2015. *International approaches to real estate development*. London; New York: Routledge,Taylor & Francis Group. ISBN 978-0-415-82857-4.
- STATISTA, 2024a. Czech Republic urbanization 2012-2022. online. In: *Statista*. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/455811/urbanization-in-</u> <u>czech-republic/</u>. [viewed 2024-02-17].
- STATISTA, 2024b. Germany urbanization 2012-2022. online. In: *Statista*. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/455825/urbanization-in-germany/</u>. [viewed 2024-03-22].
- STATISTA, 2024c. Real Estate Czechia | Statista Market Forecast. online. In: Statista. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/outlook/fmo/real-</u> <u>estate/czechia</u>. [viewed 2024-02-16].
- STATISTA, 2024d. Real Estate Germany | Statista Market Forecast. online. In: *Statista*. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/outlook/fmo/real-</u> estate/germany. [viewed 2024-03-18].
- ŠTUKOVÁ, Karolína, 2023. Nájmy čekají změny. Konec nekonečným smlouvám na rok i rozkaz k vystěhování - Seznam Zprávy. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.seznamzpravy.cz/clanek/ekonomika-byznys-reality-najmycekaji-zmeny-konec-nekonecnym-smlouvam-na-rok-i-rozkaz-k-vystehovani-238050</u>. [viewed 2024-02-09].
- TAB, 2022. TAB Topics and projects Projects overview Innovative technologies, processes and products in the construction industry. Website. Available from: <u>https://www.tab-beim-bundestag.de/english/projects_innovative-</u> <u>technologies-processes-and-products-in-the-construction-industry.php</u>. [viewed 2024-03-24].

- THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT, 2022. The Federal Government. online. In: Website oftheFederalGovernment|Bundesregierung.Availablefrom:https://www.bundesregierung.de/breg-en/federal-government/affordable-housing-2134122. [viewed 2024-03-20].
- THEGLOBALECONOMY.COM, 2024a. Czechia economic indicators. online. In: *TheGlobalEconomy.com.* Available from: <u>https://www.theglobaleconomy.com/Czech-Republic/</u>. [viewed 2024-04-13].
- THEGLOBALECONOMY.COM, 2024b. Germany economic indicators. online. In: *TheGlobalEconomy.com*. Available from: https://www.theglobaleconomy.com/Germany/. [viewed 2024-03-14].
- WORLD BANK, 2019. DOING BUSINESS 2019online. Available from: <u>https://www.doingbusiness.org/content/dam/doingBusiness/media/Annu</u> <u>al-Reports/English/DB2019-report_web-version.pdf</u>.